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Section 1 — Strategic Report and Directors’ Report



INOVYN LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The Directors present their strategic report of INOVYN Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings
(together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Review of the business
Review of trading results

Revenue from continuing operations was €2,878.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: €3,105.4
million) and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items (“EBITDA™) was €601.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: €606.1 million). A reconciliation of EBITDA to operating profit
can be found in note 2 to the financial statements.

Revenue for the INOVYN group decreased by €227.2 million, or 7.3%. This decrease was mainly due to the lower
average selling prices across a number of the Group’s products. The average European contract caustic soda price (as
reported by IHS Markit) was €610 per tonne in 2020, compared to €674 per tonne in 2019. Implied European caustic
soda daily demand (reported chlorine production, less reported caustic soda exports, plus the reported caustic soda
stock change) for 2020 was lower than the same period in 2019. Selling prices of general purpose PVC and specialty
PVC fell in domestic markets on the back of lower ethylene contract prices. However, European general purpose PVC
demand in 2020 was 0.5% higher than in 2019, which was better than anticipated in the context of the COVID-19
pandemic.

The impact of lower average selling prices was partially offset by higher sales volumes in 2020 compared to 2019 for
major products. Sales volumes of general purpose PVC were 4.9% higher than in 2020 and specialty PVC (both
suspension and emulsion PVC) was 2.6% higher than in 2019. Sales volumes of caustic soda were also higher by
6.1% compared to 2019. Although PVC demand in Europe fell by almost 50% in the second quarter of 2020 as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group sold higher volumes of PVC into export markets during this quarter,
compared to prior periods, which allowed its plant to run at higher operating rates than the European average. Global
general purpose PVC markets were particularly tight towards the end of 2020 due to a combination of strong demand
and supply side tightness caused by low stock levels and several planned and unplanned disruptions in Europe and the
US. Caustic soda markets gradually improved as 2020 progressed due to plentiful supply, with the Group relying on
export markets to move excess product.

Sales volumes and prices of chlorine derivatives, including Cereclor, chloroform and epichlorohydrin, were lower in
2020 due to reduced demand and lower paraffin, gas and propylene input costs.

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, all of the Group’s plants, with the exception of planned maintenance, were fully
available during 2020.

EBITDA for the Group decreased by €5.0 million, or 0.8%. Although European PVC producers experienced a severe
and sudden reduction in demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in the second quarter of 2020, EBITDA
performance for the full year was only moderately lower than 2019. Lower caustic soda selling prices were the main
reason for the decrease but the impact of this was partly offset by lower electricity costs. General purpose and specialty
PVC spreads over ethylene were on average higher than 2019, helped by European and US supply restrictions in the
second half of the year. The Monthly Contract Price for ethylene (as reported by IHS Markit) averaged €797 per tonne
in 2020, compared to €1,007 per tonne in 2019. Falling European ethylene prices also boosted the competitiveness
and margins of European PVC producers in export markets.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has total equity of €181.1 million (2019: €267.3 million). Net debt at 31 December
2020 was €984.3 million (2019: €841.8 million), EBITDA was €601.1 million (2019: €606.1 million) and net leverage
was 1.6 times (2019: 1.4 times).

Key exceptional items
Net exceptional charges of €25.9 million have been recognised in 2020 (2019: €51.6 million).

To comply with the obligations of the EU Water Framework Directive and to reduce the level of leaching of historical
contamination, a provision of €10.4 million was recognised at Tavaux, France, to cover costs associated with the
construction of a sealed cell for certain sedimentation basins and a pilot plant for treatment of contaminated ground
water.

On 9 March 2020, the Group renegotiated an amendment and upsizing of its existing Term Loan B borrowings by
€250.0 million from €814.3 million to €1,064.3 million. The amendment has been classified as a substantial debt
modification as per IFRS 9 resuiting in the write-off of €16.7 million of unamortised debt issue costs associated with
the original Term Loan B. See further details in the “Financing arrangements™ section below.
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Review of the business (continued)

Key exceptional items (continued)

In December 2015, the Group announced the closure of the chloromethanes facility at Runcorn in the United Kingdom
with production being focused on INOVYN’s other chloromethanes assets at Tavaux, France and Rosignano, Italy.
In 2020, €0.9 million was released from the provision following a re-estimate of the remaining costs to be incurred.

In June 2018, following a detailed review and the expiration of a Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and
Restriction of Chemicals (“REACH”) authorisation permitting the sale of a special type of recycled PVC
manufactured by Vinyloop Ferrara SpA at its Ferrara facility in Italy, INOVYN and its minority 40% shareholder,
Texyloop SAS decided to terminate operations and to initiate liquidation proceedings and a provision was made to
cover the costs of closure. Following a review of the remaining estimated costs to complete the liquidation, €0.3
million was released in 2020.

For further details of exceptional items, refer to note S.

Group reorganisations, acquisitions and disposals

On 31 December 2020, INEOS Group Investments Limited sold 94.9% of its shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Industries Limited for €3,416.4 million. On the same date, through a series of share-for-share exchange transactions
INEOS Industries Limited then transferred the 94.9% shareholding to INEOS Industries Holdings Limited, who then
transferred it to INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited, who then transferred it to INEOS Quattro Financing Limited. From
this date, INEOS Quattro Financing Limited owns 94.9% and INEOS Group Investments Limited owns 5.1% of the
shareholding of the Company, and the Group became part of the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited group (the “INEOS
Quattro group”). The ultimate parent undertaking of the Company remained INEOS Limited.

On 14 April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited transferred its 5.1% shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The ultimate parent undertaking of
the Company remained INEOS Limited.

Prior to the formation of the INOVYN joint venture, both INEOS and Solvay agreed to sell certain ‘remedy assets’ to
International Chemicals Investor Group (“ICIG”) in order to address competition concerns raised by the European
Commission. Deferred consideration of €1.5 million was received from ICIG in the year ended 31 December 2020.
On 1 May 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Solvay Tavaux SAS from Solvay. The outstanding deferred
consideration of €3.6 million has been settled following the completion of working capital and other negotiations with
Solvay.

Financing arrangements

On 9 March 2020, the Group renegotiated an amendment and upsizing of its existing Term Loan B borrowings. The
Term Loan B borrowings were increased by €250.0 million, the maturity date was extended from November 2025 to
March 2027 and certain provisions in the Credit Agreement were amended, although it remained maintenance
covenant free. The interest rates also remained the same. All quarterly amortization payments were replaced with a
single payment on 9 March 2027. The additional proceeds of €250.0 million were loaned to INEOS Industries
Holdings Limited, a related party, on the same date. '

In February 2019, INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc), an indirect subsidiary of INOVYN
Limited, granted a loan of €300.0 million to INEOS Limited, a related party, resulting in a cash outflow from the
Group. In December 2019, INOVYN Finance Limited declared a dividend of €312.0 million. INOVYN Holdings
Limited then declared a dividend in specie of this receivable to INOVYN Limited, who did the same to INEOS Group
Investments Limited, its parent company. Both the loan receivable from INEOS Limited to INOVYN Finance Limited
and the balance payable from INOVYN Finance Limited to INEOS Group Investments Limited remained unpaid as
at 31 December 2019.

In December 2020, INEOS Limited, INOVYN Finance Limited, INEOS Group Investments Limited and INEOS AG
entered into a settlement agreement whereby the outstanding balances including accrued interest between INOVYN
Finance Limited and INEOS Limited, and INOVYN Finance Limited and INEOS Group Investments Limited were
settled. The Company subsequently declared a dividend of €272.1 million on 11 December 2020 as settlement of the
outstanding €250.0 million loan (plus accrued interest) and to settle the remaining balances with INEOS related party
entities.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received €1.6 million relating to a part repayment of the loans
payable by INEOS Runcorn (TPS) Limited, an associated undertaking.

Subsequent to the year end and after the Group became part of INEOS Quattro group, the INEOS Quattro group
undertook a refinancing project on 29 January 2021. INEOS Quattro Financing Limited, a related party, used part of
the proceeds from this refinancing to lend €1,064.3 million to INOVYN Finance Limited, who then used these funds
to repay the Group’s Term Loan B borrowings in full, including accrued interest.
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Review of the business (continued)
Financial arrangements (continued)

On 28 June 2021, the Group renegotiated its trade receivables securitisation programme that was acquired with the
INOVYN business. The maximum amount available under the securitisation programme remained the same at €240.0
million. The facility now matures on 30 June 2024. The interest rates were also reduced and, for drawn amounts, the
revised facility bears interest at a rate equal to the cost to the lenders of issuing Commercial Paper plus a margin of
0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%), except that if any lending is funded other than by issuing Commercial Paper
then the applicable interest rate is SONIA/SOFR plus 0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%). For undrawn amounts,
the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

See note 18 for further details.
Other material events

A Specialty Vinyls growth plan was announced in 2017 to increase capacity by 120.0 kilo tonnes per annum at the
Group’s existing production units in Belgium, Germany, France, Sweden and Norway. This is progressing well with
capacity increases realised at Jemeppe, Belgium, Tavaux, France and Stenungsund, Sweden during 2019 via
debottlenecking projects. Further increases in capacity were executed in Porsgrunn, Norway and Stenungsund,
Sweden in 2020.

A major expansion project was delivered in 2020 at the site in Rafnes, Norway. The VCM capacity at the site was
increased by around 70 kilo tonnes per year, which is used in the production of vinyls at sites at Porsgrunn, Norway,
Stenungsund, Sweden and Newton Aycliffe, United Kingdom. This project also included investment in an additional
35 kilo tonnes per year of membrane electrolysis capacity to supply caustic soda customers in Scandinavia.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks. The key
business risks affecting the Group are set out below:

e Raw materials and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw material prices, or to retain or
replace its key suppliers, or experience supply chain disruption, its results of operations may be negatively affected.
The Group attempts to match raw material price increases with corresponding product price increases. The Group
is an integrated PVC and caustic soda producer with access to its own salt production, to ethylene via the joint
arrangement in the Feyzin ethylene cracker and to substantial internal production of chlorine and VCM. The Group
is not typically reliant on any single outside supplier of these inputs. A significant proportion of its energy
requirements are governed by spot purchases. For all other inputs, the Group continuously assesses the source of
its raw materials and works with key suppliers.

o Safety, health and the environment — the Group’s facilities are subject to operational and other industry risks,
including the risk of environmental contamination and safety hazards. The Group sets strict health, safety and
environmental performance targets and is committed to continuous improvement in all aspects of operations, with
the view to meeting and exceeding all relevant legislation requirements in this area. Safety, health and the
environment are managed as an integral part of activities through a formal management system.

¢ Substitutes - the availability of substitute products and regulatory initiatives that may encourage the use of
substitute products and may affect demand for certain of the Group’s products.

e Competition — significant competition in the Group’s industries, whether through efforts of new and current
competitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely affect its competitive position, sales
and overall operations. The Group aims to operate as a low-cost producer and is focused on reducing the fixed and
variable cost base across the production chain. The Group also positions itself compared to competitors not only
on the basis of price, but on the basis of product innovation, product quality and distribution capability.

e The chemical and PVC industries are cyclical — changing market demands and prices may negatively affect the
Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in turn, could affect its ability to make payments on its
debt or to make further investments in the business. The Group aims to operate as a low cost producer, and has a
track record of generating cash flow through cyclical downturns. Whilst there may be short term impacts on
margins and cash flows, the Group has ensured that it is well placed to withstand bottom of cycle conditions.

¢ Key customers — the Group may be adversely affected by the loss of key customers for certain products. Unlike
PVC and caustic soda, which are widely used commodity chemicals sold to a diverse customer base, certain of the
Group’s chlorine derivatives products are sold to a smaller number of customers, and the Group depends on certain
key customers for sales of those products. Many of these sales to key customers are governed by long-term
contracts.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

e Regulation — the Group is highly regulated and may incur significant costs to maintain compliance with or to
address liabilities under environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. As a responsible chemical
manufacturer, the Group is committed to meeting all of its legal obligations. The Group liaises with various
industry bodies to understand and prepare for compliance with new regulations on a timely and cost effective basis.

¢ Existing and proposed regulations to address climate change through reductions of greenhouse gas emissions and
restrictions on other air emissions may cause the Group to incur significant costs or affect demand for products.

¢ International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency fluctuation risks as well as
to economic downturns and local business risks in several different countries that could adversely affect its
profitability. Exposures to different currencies are monitored on a regular basis to ascertain the appropriate
hedging strategy, if at all.

o Cyber security risks — a cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption, operational
disruption and/or financial loss. Various IT protocols and programmes are in place to provide availability,
confidentiality and an overall security approach to all systems and business processes, including cyber security
controls, like intrusion detection/intrusion prevention, firewalls, mobile device management, malware and virus
protection, notebook encryption, secure VPN access, network segmentation, industrial control system security
monitoring, email and internet security, security information and event management, threat and vulnerability
management.

¢ United Kingdom withdrawal from the European Union — the Group’s operations may be adversely affected by the
withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union. The Group has implemented significant plans to
limit the impact of Brexit on its activities from liaising with employees, contingent planning for inventories and
has implemented new ways of working for export sales.

e Outbreaks of disease — the outbreak of contagious diseases may have a negative impact on the Group’s business
and performance. During the course on 2020 and into 2021, the Group has managed the outbreak of the COVID-
19 coronavirus by implementing various measures to ensure the safety of employees and the ongoing operation of
the plants. See page 11 for further details.

Section 172(1) statement

The directors have the duty to promote the success of the Company and the Group for the benefit of stakeholders as a
whole and remain conscious of the impact their decisions have on employees, communities, suppliers, customers,
investors and the environment. The directors focus on engagement with all stakeholders, and uses this when taking
decisions.

Long term factors

The Group’s principal objectives are to maintain its position as a key global supplier of PVC, caustic soda and various
chlorine derivatives and to increase the value of INOVYN by generating strong, sustainable and growing cash flows
across industry cycles. To achieve these objectives, the Group has the following key strategies:

e Maintain health, safety, security and environmental excellence

e  Maintain and grow the Group’s leadership positions to enhance competitiveness;
e Reduce costs and realise synergies;

e Maximise utilisation of assets;

e  Access advantaged feedstock and energy opportunities;

e Pursue value-enhancing opportunities at cellrooms; and

e Develop and implement a sustainable business.

The directors believe these are critical long-term factors for the success of the Group. The directors’ decision making
has supported the implementation of the strategy. The Group plans for strategic investments to support its goals and
continually investigates potential growth opportunities. Examples of such decisions include the capital investment
into new membrane cellrooms in Stenungsund, Sweden, and in Lillo, Belgium, the Specialty Vinyls growth plan (as
described on page 6), and other chlor-alkali, EDC and VCM expansions.

The Group aims to operate and develop its business in a way that supports both the current and future needs, taking
into account relevant economic, environmental and social factors. This enables the Group to sustain the business for
the long term. The directors strongly believe that sustainable business management and practices will contribute to
long-term business success and will strength the Group leading position in the market.
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Section 172(1) statement (continued)
Long term factors (continued)

The directors ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its long-term growth strategy and to fund its
investments. An important element is the Group’s long-term cash and operational planning in relation to the capital
requirements needed to grow and to extend the life span of the assets.

Stakeholder considerations

Engaging stakeholders and developing meaningful partnerships is essential for long-term business success. The Group
engages in regular, open and proactive dialogue with all relevant stakeholders as this is needed to understand their
perspectives, expectations, concerns and needs. In this way, the Group is able to integrate stakeholder’s considerations
into business decision-making processes. Dialogue with stakeholders gives the Group the opportunity to explain its
clear and committed approach to sustainability as well as the value of the Group’s work, products and services for
society.

Key stakeholders contribute to the Group’s economic, social and environmental performance. Stakeholders include
customers, suppliers, employees, investors, financial experts and rating agencies, local communities, industry
associations, scientific institutions, universities, government and value chain partners.

As a global leader in PVC and chlor-alkali, the Group adopts a holistic approach to looking at its entire value chain —
from procurement, development, production to transport, sales, integration into customer processes and final intended
use. Together with industry associations and business partners, the Group strives to achieve high and well-
acknowledged sustainability standards in the PVC and chlor-alkali industry.

The Group is very conscious of changing attitudes to climate change, and monitors its impact on the environment,
including emissions arising from operation of its assets and the potential impacts of climate change on its business,
whether arising from regulatory change, changing weather patterns or other factors. These matters are considered by
the directors in making decisions and in assessing the long-term viability of the business.

The Group is committed to maintaining a workplace that is safe, professional and supportive of teamwork and trust.
The Group is committed to creating and sustaining a work environment of mutual trust where all employees are treated
with respect and dignity, compensated fairly based on local market conditions, and are entitled to adequate working
hours. The Group value diversity of its people and each of its employees is recognised as an important member of the
team.

The Group is committed to protecting and maintaining the quality of the environment and to promoting the health and
safety of its employees, contractors, suppliers, customers, visitors and the communities in which it operates.
Compliance with all legislation intended to protect people, property and the environment is one of the Group’s
fundamental priorities and applies to its products as well as to its processes. Management lead by example and allocate
the required resources to achieve excellence in SHE performance.

The need to act fairly as between members of the Company

The Company has a single shareholder and a single ultimate controlling party. Their interests are taken into account
by the directors to promote fairness in decision making.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group is classified as a large unquoted group due to its size and shareholding structure. The reporting boundary
for this Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (“SECR”) is the United Kingdom-based elements of the Group.

The Group’s United Kingdom operations consist of three sites:

The Group’s Runcorn Site includes a boiler plant (“RBP”) that primarily burns hydrogen to produce steam. The
hydrogen is imported from the chlorine electrolysis plant owned by the Group’s joint operation, Runcorn MCP
Limited. An on-site sulphuric acid plant produces by-product steam that is used within the site network, further helping
to reduce carbon emissions. The remainder of the site’s steam requirement is provided from a direct connection to an
energy from waste (“EfW”) Combined Heat and Power (“CHP”) that burns residual municipal solid waste that
typically contains approximately 45% biomass, which is operated by the Group’s associated undertaking, INEOS
Runcorn (TPS) Limited. The CHP meets the “good quality” standard as defined by CHP Quality Assurance
(“CHPQA”) programme. Power is provided from a direct connection to the EfW, CHP and from the National Grid.

The Northwich Site produces sodium chloride solution (brine) that is transferred to the Runcorn Site where it is
evaporated to produce pure salt. Brine solution is also supplied to Runcorn MCP Limited’s chlorine electrolysis plant
and to other third parties.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

The Newton Aycliffe Site produces PVC. Power and thermal energy is generated from three CHPs that meet the
CHPQA’s “good quality” criteria, and boilers. Natural gas is used as the fuel source on site. Excess power generation
is spilled to the grid, and at times of low CHP output, power is imported from the National Grid. Power is also exported

to third parties on the site.
This SECR report covers the reporting period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

2020
Gross energy consumptions (kWhr)
Scope 1 energy consumption used to report emissions’ 700,948,957
Memo: Scope 1 energy exports (to third parties as Scope 2 (net))? (260,935,826)
Scope 2 energy consumption used to report emissions> 518,450,624
Scope 3 energy used to report emissions (private vehicles) 59,675 -
Total Scopes 1, 2 and 3 energy consumptions used to report emissions (including exported ‘

energy) 1,219,459,256
Scope 1 Emissions (Te CO:ze)*
Emissions from the combustion of gas 72,891
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes® 717
Memo: Scope 1 emissions associated with energy exports (to third parties)® (15,947)
Scope 2 Emissions (Te COze)
Emissions from purchased electricity’ 52,087
Emissions from purchased steam (from energy from waste CHP) 102,962
Scope 3 Emissions
Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee owned vehicles where company
is responsible for purchasing the fuel® 17

Total production (Te as 100%) 2,631,002
Emission Intensities (combined Scopes 1, 2 and 3) (Te CO:¢/Te product’)
Emissions intensity ratio : 0.087
Emissions intensity ratio excluding energy esports outside of reporting entity 0.081

1. Fuel used to produce energy includes natural gas and hydrogen, but excludes the significant “free” steam that is produced as a by-product
on the sulphuric acid plant. The hydrogen provides 43.7% of fuel energy used to produce on-site electricity and steam. The total also

includes diesel/kerosene that is used for site vehicles and heating and other minor services.

2. The boiler plant on the Runcorn Site exports steam to other reporting entities; therefore can be considered a “service facility.” Power is also
exported to the grid and third parties at Newton Aycliffe. Total exports (as Scope 2) from the Runcorn and Newton Aycliffe Sites equate to
37.2% of the total energy generated within the reporting entity.

3. Electricity is imported from the grid at Runcom, Northwich and Newton Aycliffe with steam imported from the EfW CHP at Runcorn and a
third party at Northwich.

4.  Carbon dioxide emission data is provided from EUETS and CCA submissions for production emissions. Non EUETS and CCA emissions
calculated using the standard UK Conversion Factors 2020.

5. The Scope 2 emissions from liquid fuels include stationary sources, for example, emergency generators and office heating as well as from

' vehicles.

6.  Exported energy equates to 21.9% of Scope 1 emissions. The exported carbon dioxide percentage is low due to a significant percentage of it
being derived from hydrogen bumning at Runcomn.

7.  Energy purchases from Grid and from the Energy from Waste CHP (45% biomass) at Runcom.

8.  Car emissions based on standard emissions for medium sizes petrol car.

9. Products included are PVC, sulphur chemicals, salt, Cereclor and hydrochloric acid. Note products produced by the chlor-alkali electrolysis

plant owned by the Group’s joint arrangement, Runcorn MCP Limited, are not included in the calculations.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)
Calculation Methodology

INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limited, one of the Group’s subsidiaries, is required to report emissions via the regulated and
audited European Union Emissions Trading Scheme (EU ETS) and the UK only Climate Change Agreement Scheme
(CCA). The EUETS and CCA schemes form the basis for the data collection and analysis for this report. INOVYN
ChlorVinyls Limited not only produces products, but is also a host for third party businesses, the largest being Runcom
MCP Limited’s chlor alkali electrolysis plant at Runcorn that will report as a separate entity; therefore INOVYN
ChlorVinyls Limited can, in part, be considered as an energy service provider. The report includes the data for the
Scope 1 energy and emissions based on the total gross fuel used for internal generation, but the report also provides
the net energy and carbon emissions that third parties would report. The published UK Government 2020 conversion
factors have been used to calculate energy production and emissions data.

Energy Efficiency

The Group has valid Energy Saving Opportunity Scheme (ESOS) reports that have been used in the development of
energy saving projects. Where appropriate, and cost effective, variable speed pumps have been installed.
Rationalisation of the steam network at Runcorn has been undertaken to remove pipework to redundant assets so as
to reduce transmission losses.

The hydrogen produced from the chlor alkali electrolysis plant run by the Runcorn MCP Limited is a valuable source
of carbon free energy. The boiler management systems have been improved resulting in a significant reduction in
back-up natural gas usage, but also a reduction in hydrogen venting losses. Inprovements have resulted in over 95%
of the hydrogen being either burned or sold.

Going forward, significant emphasis is being placed on the development of the hydrogen economy. At Runcom, the
use of available hydrogen for transport is being assessed along with the development of a cell for the electrolysis of
water. Brine cavities at Northwich have recently been used to store natural gas, but with the future direction changing
to hydrogen, a project is being assessed that would allow salt cavities to be used as a 1 TWhr critical storage facility
as part of a future North West hydrogen network.

Key performance indicators

In conjunction with the management of costs and working capital to improve profit the Group uses a number of key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) to monitor performance. These KPIs are monitored both on a product-by-product
basis and also for the Group as a whole, compared to budget:

e  EBITDA - earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, and exceptional items. A review of the
performance of EBITDA compared to the prior year is noted on page 4.

e SPVC over ethylene margin — this is calculated as the average sales price per tonne of SPVC less the costs of the
proportion of ethylene used to make one tonne of SPVC. Using data published by IHS Markit, the SPVC over
ethylene margin in 2020 was €627 per tonne of SPVC, compared to €551 per tonne in 2019.

e  SPVC over ethylene margin, plus caustic soda over energy margin — this is calculated as the average sales price
per tonne of SPVC plus the average sales price per tonne of the equivalent portion of caustic soda, less the costs
of the proportion of ethylene used to make one tonne of SPVC less the energy cost of producing the equivalent
portion of caustic soda. Using data published by IHS Markit, this ratio was €929 per tonne of SPVC in 2020,
compared to €871 per tonne in 2019.

. Sales per tonne of product sold - the average European sales price for the two key products for the Group as
published by THS Markit, compared to the prior year are noted below:

2020 2019
€
SPVC (per tonne) 1,025 1,054
Caustic soda (per tonne) . 610 674

¢  Working capital ratios. These include debtor days — indicating the average length of time it takes to receive cash
from a sale; stock turn — indicating the number of times in a year that stock is turned over; and creditor days —
indicating the average length of time it takes to pay cash for a purchase. Working capital ratios have improved,
compared to 2019, and working capital inflows per the consolidated statement of cash flows were €32.2 million
(2019: inflow of €24.6 million).
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Strategic future developments

The Group continues to investigate potential growth opportunities, which are further described in the Directors’
Report. The Group announced a project in 2018 to increase production of general puspose PVC at its site in Jemeppe,
Belgium. The investment, which is estimated to deliver a further approximately 200 kilo tonnes of capacity together
with the associated increase in VCM capacity, aims to meet demand growth across the construction, electronics,
packaging, food protection, water and energy sectors. The PVC capacity first phase of the expansion program is
currently expected to be operational at the end of 2021, together with approximately 65 kilo tonnes per annum of
additional VCM capacity. The second phase consisting of the remaining VCM capacity corresponding to the full 200
kilo tonnes of general purpose PVC capacity is currently under study.

COVID-19 coronavirus

COVID-19 was classified as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organisation
in March 2020.

INOVYN is Europe’s largest manufacturer of the chlor-alkali and vinyl products of fundamental importance for
controlling the spread of COVID-19 and protecting human health. The wider contribution to society that INOVYN
can make has been recognised by national governmental bodies and INOVYN’s production sites are categorised as
critical manufacturing infrastructure and so, in the interests of public safety, it is essential that INOVYN’s
manufacturing facilities continued to operate. Many of the Group’s products have been used in the fight to control
COVID-19 from disinfectants to detergents, to the manufacture of pharmaceuticals, to keeping water clean and safe
and a vast array of medical and PPE applications.

Except for planned maintenance, all of the Group’s plant have continued to operate. All plants have had sufficient
resources and have implemented measures to ensure that this remains the case throughout the pandemic, including
social distancing, hygiene measures and work from home policies during lockdowns.

During the second quarter of 2020, demand for general purposes PVC and specialty PVC declined in many European
markets. The Group partially offset this decline in Europe by selling in export markets. Demand in Europe troughed
in April but re-bounded in May and June. Demand for general purposes PVC and specialty PVC recovered to pre-
COVID markets levels in the third quarter of 2020. In addition, following falls in oil prices, ethylene contract prices
reduced significantly and energy prices also fell dramatically in the second quarter, but subsequently recovered in the
third quarter. There were higher PVC spreads, as reductions in ethylene prices were retained. Reduced demand for
chlorine and limited caustic soda availability resulted in higher prices.

In addition, the Group implemented a series of programmes to preserve cash including review of timing of turnarounds

{some of which were deferred until later in 2020 or into 2021, such as the VCM turnaround at Stenungsund, Sweden -
and Tavaux, France which were postponed until September-October 2020 and March-April 2021 respectively),

reduction in the levels of non-essential capital expenditure, reductions in spend against provisions and cut-back of

non-essential fixed cost expenditure. Liquidity remained strong throughout the crisis so far. In terms of working

capital, some customer delays in payments was experienced in April, May and June, but have now been resolved and

was back to normal in July. Overall the Group has coped with the shock so far and has not been impacted significantly

in terms of results, although it has taken steps to ensure that this was the case.

As of the date of these financial statements, despite the availability of vaccines, government measures continue to be
imposed and continued around the world as new strands of the COVID-19 virus have been discovered. The COVID-
19 pandemic situation is dynamic, and updates on travel restrictions, shutdowns on non-essential businesses and
shelter-in-place/stay-at-home orders are continually evolving. The extent of the COVID-19 outbreak’s effects on the
Group’s operational and financial performance will depend on future developments, including the duration, spread
and intensity of the outbreak and the government measures implemented in response, or whether widespread
shutdowns return, all of which are uncertain and difficult to predict considering the rapidly evolving landscape.
Although the directors cannot predict the extent and duration of COVID-19 crisis, the directors have undertaken a
rigorous assessment of the potential impact of COVID-19 on demand for its products and the impact on margins for
over 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements.

Whilst there is significant uncertainty due to the COVID-19 crisis, on the basis of the assessment described above,
together with a strong balance sheet and access to liquidity, the directors have concluded that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

D J Horrocks M

Director
5 July 2021
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The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of INOVYN Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Results for the year

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 23 which shows a profit for the year
of €288.7 million (2019: €301.9 million).

Dividends

Total interim dividends of €372.1 million were declared during the year (2019: €312.0 million). This took the form
of a cash dividend of €100.0 million and €272.1 million dividend in specie as settlement of outstanding loans (plus
accrued interest) and settlement of balances with INEOS related party entities. The directors do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend (2019: €nil).

Future developments

The Group continues to investigate potential growth opportunities. The projects that are underway are described in
the Strategic Report. In addition, the Group is considering a number of other options.

The mercury cell room at the site in Martorell, Spain ceased production in December 2017, in line with the EU
legislation mandating all mercury-based chlor-alkali production to cease by the end of 2017. The Group are still
considering whether to convert this cell room to membrane technology, including investigation into the option of
building a dedicated ethylene import facility in the region. The Group has also commenced project studies to
investigate further debottlenecking options to increase EDC capacity across several of its sites.

During 2020, the Group became part of a seven strong consortium in a “Power to Methanol” project set up to further
investigate options for sustainable methanol production in Antwerp, Belgium. The Group will contribute to a joint
feasibility study for the production of methanol from captured carbon dioxide and sustainably generated hydrogen.
Subject to the success of the study, an industrial scale demonstration plant could be built at the Group’s Lillo, Belgium
site.

The Group launched a new business to develop and build clean hydrogen capacity across Europe, in support of the
drive towards a zero-carbon future. See further details under the section “Corporate social responsibility” further on
in this Directors’ Report. Subsequent to the year end, the Group announced a plan to build a new clean hydrogen
supply hub at its site in Rafnes, Norway, which includes the plan to build an electroylers to produce clean hydrogen
through the electrolysis of water, powered by zero-carbon electricity.

The Group will undertake a major investment in a new mechanical vapour recompression unit to decarbonise its solid
salt process at Tavaux, France. The planned investment will deliver a major improvement in the energy efficiency of
the Tavaux operations by converting its brine concentration process to run on steam produced from electricity rather
than gas. This will ultimately deliver a reduction in primary energy consumption and a reduction in CO2 emissions.
Project teams will be formed in 2021, with the aim of starting the new unit at the end of 2023.

The Group will continue to focus on those areas which can be controlled including performance on health and safety,
improved reliability of production and the continued reductions in the fixed cost base. Additionally, the Group will
remain focused on controlling capital expenditure and working capital.

Subsequent events

Refinancing

Subsequent to the year end and after the Group became part of INEOS Quattro group, the INEOS Quattro group
undertook a refinancing project on 29 January 2021. INEOS Quattro Financing Limited, a related party, used part of
the proceeds from this refinancing to lend €1,064.3 million to INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance
plc), who then used these funds to repay the Group’s Term Loan B borrowings in full, including accrued interest.
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Subsequent events (continued)
United Kingdom withdrawal from the European Union (“Brexit”)

On 23 June 2016, the UK held an in or out referendum on the UK’s membership within the EU, the result of which
favoured the exit of the UK from the European Union (*‘Brexit’”). On 31 January 2020, Brexit became effective and
the UK entered into a transition period from 31 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 during which the European Union
treated the UK as if it were still a member of the European Union (the ‘‘Transition Period’’). Following the expiry of
the Transition Period, the UK ceased to be treated as a member of European Union at 23:00 on 31 December 2020. A
trade agreement was signed between the EU and the United Kingdom on 24 December 2020. The Group made
significant plans to limit the impact of Brexit on its activities from liaising with employees, contingent planning for
inventories and implemented new ways of working for export sales. Whilst there has been additional workload to
standard operating processes and some transportation problems, overall the impact to the business has not been
significant and process changes have been implemented.

Group reorganisation

On 14 April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited transferred its 5.1% shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The ultimate parent undertaking of
the Company remained INEOS Limited.

Financing arrangements

On 28 June 2021, the Group renegotiated its trade receivables securitisation programme that was acquired with the
INOVYN business. The maximum amount available under the securitisation programme remained the same at €240.0
million. The facility now matures on 30 June 2024. The interest rates were also reduced and, for drawn amounts, the
revised facility bears interest at a rate equal to the cost to the lenders of issuing Commercial Paper plus a margin of
0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%), except that if any lending is funded other than by issuing Commercial Paper
then the applicable interest rate is SONIA/SOFR plus 0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%). For undrawn amounts,
the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

Research and development

The Group offers a set of innovative product solutions for customers, with over 50 different grades of PVC and a
dedicated research and innovation team. There are research, technology and engineering facilities in Jemeppe,
Belgium; Runcorn, United Kingdom; Porsgrunn, Norway; and Rosignano, Italy. The headquarters for the research
and innovation activity is located in Jemeppe, Belgium and covers electrolysis, VCM, PVC, allyl chloride,
epichlorohydrin, perchloroethylene and chloromethanes processes. The electrolysis pilot plant is located in Rosignano,
Italy, and is focused on improvements in the electrolysis portion of the chlorine and caustic soda manufacturing
processes. The main VCM and PVC pilot plants are located in Jemeppe, Belgium. At Porsgrunn, Norway, the Group
has a satellite facility focusing on the improvement of VCM processes, and on the development of new PVC grades
for the Nordic countries. The Runcorn team in the United Kingdom provides engineering support for all assets and
major investment projects in the Group.

The research, technology and engineering activities of the Group are focused on:

. ‘Improving variable production costs, reliability and productivity of all processes, including, for example:

o Electrolysis: maximising current density, prevention of brine pollution, optimising re-membraning and
recoating activities, and the utilisation of lower quality sources of salt;

o VCM: studying ways to reduce energy consumption, increasing asset reliability, optimising catalysts to
enhance ethylene yield and avoiding corrosion;

e} Allyl chloride and epichlorohydrin: improving the quality of final products, minimising corrosion,
improving propylene yield and converting intermediate by-products to more sustainable products;

o Chloromethanes: improving the reliability of the installation and the quality of chloroform; and

o PVC: developing proprietary PVC stripping technology, initiator synthesis technology and kinetics
control technology through appropriate polymerisation inhibitors and optimising PVC batch production
and recipes by testing new additives;
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Research and development (continued)

e Developing new resins and new applications and producing products that generate higher value on the market
(for example, co-polymers, extenders, specialty Emulsion PVC grades and PVC latex formulations) in line with
customer and legislative requirements;

Optimising the product mix along with the different production lines;

Improving the quality of existing grades; and

Performing research and innovation activities for the potassium chloride electrolysis process, which the Group
successfully started in 2017 in Lillo, Belgium.

To assist in these projects, the Group has laboratory-scale production facilities that simulate the electrolysis, VCM
and PVC cycles from chlorine production to the final processing of PVC resins. The laboratories contain processing
equipment and product analysis facilities to provide information on the composition, properties and performance of
PVC products. The Group has established best practices groups for its main products across the businesses, allowing
internal experts to compare their practices and generate ideas for improving safety, quality, capacity and reducing
production costs. These resources also actively support the Group’s commercial activities in product sales.

In addition to these research activities, the Research, Technology and Engineering team is heavily involved in major
capital improvement projects. The Group’s engineering experts are involved in capital improvements from basic
design to commissioning and work closely with the research team to ensure successful transfer of technology to the
plants. One of the Group’s central engineering integrity groups is based in Runcorn, United Kingdom and they are
available to be dispatched to all of the Group’s sites and production facilities. Examples of recent and current capital
investment projects include the conversion from mercury to membrane electrolysis at Stenungsund, Sweden
(completed January 2019), the expansion of electrolysis and VCM capacity at Rafnes, Norway by 35 and 70 kilo
tonnes respectively (completed in the first quarter of 2020), and the 200 kilo tonnes expansion of general purpose
PVC capacity at Jemeppe, Belgium (completion expected by mid-2021). The Group is also progressing well with its
specialty PVC growth plan strategy with capacity increases realised in Jemeppe, Belgium, Tavaux, France and
Stenungsund, Sweden during 2019 via debottlenecking projects. Further increases in capacity were executed at
Porsgrunn, Norway and Stenungsund, Sweden in 2020. In some specific cases, the growth plan requires development
of new grades by the Group’s scientists using the world-class state of the art research centre in Jemeppe, Belgium.

The Group spent approximately €15.1 million (2019: €12.9 million) on research and development in the year, of which
€13.4 million (2019: €11.6 million) was expensed to the income statement.

Donations

The Group made no political contributions (2019: €nil).

Financial risks

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in price risk, credit
risk, currency fluctuation risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management
programme that seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where appropriate. The
Group is exposed to commodity price risk as a result of its operations. However, given the size of the Group’s
operations, the cost of managing exposure to such risk exceeds any potential benefits. The Group manages its credit
exposures with a set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or counterparties. The
Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its term loan borrowings upon which
interest is paid at variable rates and its cash resources which are invested at variable rates. Again, the cost of managing
exposure to such risk exceeds any potential benefits. This policy is continually reviewed.

Directors

The directors who held office during the year, and up to the date of signing the financial statements, were as follows:

G Tuft (appointed 1 January 2020)
F M F Constant

P M Daniels

M J Maher (resigned 1 March 2021)

J D Taylorson

CE Tane (resigned 1 January 2020)

D J Horrocks was appointed as a director on 1 March 2021.
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Employees

The Group places considerable importance on communication with employees. This is to ensure that employees at all
levels of the organisation are kept aware of key business developments, and in particular financial performance, so as
to focus attention on key performance metrics. This is achieved through the monthly distribution to every employee
of a business results “snapshot” report covering headline safety, health and environment (“SHE”) and financial
performance. Town Hall sessions at each site are held at various points in the year that are hosted by members of the
Executive Committee and site management. Business news items are also communicated in local language to the
organisation either via cascade or direct to individuals via email, Bulletin Boards and Intranet facilities. Work groups
in the manufacturing areas have daily “toolbox talks” that cover SHE, critical operational items for the day and
business developments. '

\

The Group has regard to employees’ interests and take employee views into account when making decisions. For
example, during 2019 the Group has commenced the construction of a new office building in Runcorn, United
Kingdom and has proactively considered the views of employees during the design and construction phase.
Employees have moved into the new office building in 2021.

The Group operates in full accordance with prevailing employment legislation including information and consultation
with employees and their representatives on matters affecting their interests. Outside of any necessary formal
consultation process, there are regular briefings between the Company and the Works Councils/Trade Union bodies
in each region. An INOVYN European Works Council has also been set up which acts as a consulting body between
senior management and elected representatives covering INOVYN employees.

The Group facilitates a number of schemes designed to encourage employees to deliver key business targets. This
includes a discretionary Short Term Incentive Plan and a Long Term Incentive Plan, both of which are designed to
focus attention on key areas of performance such as SHE, EBITDA, working capital, plant reliability and fixed costs.
The Short Term Incentive Plan is a discretionary Business Bonus Scheme which incentivises employees to meet key
targets each year through the potential to receive a bonus pay-out. Each individual also has a set of personal review
targets that are used as the basis of rewarding individual performance through pay increases or one-off special bonuses.

It is the Group’s practice to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment received from disabled
persons, subject to the Group’s requirements and to the qualifications, ability and aptitude of the individual in each
case. In the event of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure their continued employment with the
Group and to provide suitable adjustments to the workplace where appropriate.

The Group continually strives to meet, and where possible, exceed all relevant legal requirements applying to safety,
health and the environment. It is committed to continuous improvement in all aspects of its operations. Through its
Safety, Health, Environment Quality (“SHEQ”) Policy, the Group aims to be amongst the chemical industry leaders
in health, safety, environmental protection and customer satisfaction, ensuring that products meet society's increasing
environmental requirements. Specifically the Group works to two guiding principles. The first being to protect the
health and safety of its employees; the communities in which it operates; and the users of its products. Secondly, the
Group seeks to minimise the effects on the environment from its operations; storage; transport; use and disposal of its
products. The Group manages Safety, Health and the Environment (“SHE”) as an integral part of its activities through
a formal management system that sets clear SHE standards/targets and monitors performance against them. It requires
all members of staff (and others who work on its behalf) to adhere to the standard in the SHE Management System
and to exercise personal responsibility to prevent harm to themselves, others and the environment. Comprehensive
SHE information and training is provided to all employees, with SHE objectives set for every individual each year
through the performance appraisal process. SHE targets also feature in the Group's discretionary Business Bonus
Scheme. Appropriate SHE information and training is also provides to other who work for the Group, handle its
products or operate its technologies. The Group also participates in industry wide responsible care and sustainable
development activities. -

Corporate social responsibility

The Group operates in full accordance with all prevailing laws and regulations in each jurisdiction of operation. In
addition, it complies fully with any legally established trade sanctions, embargoes or prohibitions that apply from time
to time in the markets in which it operates. The Group’s Executive Committee and business management teams have
access to a comprehensive range of legal advice to ensure that they are kept abreast and remain compliant with such
issues.

The Group’s Social Accountability Statement is available to all internal and external audiences. Employees are made
aware of the Group’s Social Accountability principles via information published in employee handbooks. This
Statement covers the Group’s position on matters such as child and forced labour, discrimination, employee rights
and cultural diversity, amongst others.
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Corporate social responsibility (continued)

Sustainability is a key corporate objective for INOVYN with particular focus on people, planet and profit, and a
number of product and process specific sustainability projects have been launched. A project is nearing completion
that has benchmarked the Group’s sites on their environmental footprints in order for comparisons to be made between
sites and with European average data. The early conclusions show that the Group’s overall carbon footprint is
approximately half the European average for caustic soda and between 25% and 33% lower for PVC resins. This is
largely due to significant use of renewable and/or nuclear energy by the Group’s sites.

The Group has undergone recent sustainability assessments by EcoVardis, which are detailed assessments focused on
environment, ethics, labour and human rights, and sustainable procurement. The Group was awarded Gold Merit
status in 2019 in an assessment of its Corporate Social Responsibility programme by EcoVardis. In early 2020, the
Group delivered a further 10% year-on-year improvement in its overall score due to continued progress during 2019
towards making INOVYN fully sustainable. In particular, the Group improved its score associated with environment
and labour/human rights practices, putting it in the top 3% and 1% respectively, for these categories out of the 25,000
companies that were assessed. Overall, the Group is in the top 3% of all companies assessed within its industry group.

In October 2019, the Group launched bio-attributed PVC, known as BIOVYN™., BIOVYN™ is the world’s first
commercially available grade of bio-attributable PVC. This is manufactured at Rheinberg, Germany, using bio-
attributed ethylene, a renewable feedstock derived from second-generation biomass that does not compete with the
food chain. In 2020, certification was extended to the site at Jemeppe, Belgium. BIOVYN™ is certified by The
Roundtable on Sustainable Biomaterials (“RSB”) as delivering a 100% substitution of fossil feedstock in its
production system, enabling a greenhouse gas saving of over 90% compared to conventionally produced PVC. Sales
of this resin started in December 2019 through a collaboration with one of the Group’s flooring customers. Other
business sectors, including the automotive and profile and pipe industries, have since indicated their interest in this
product. The development of BIOVYN™ forms part of the Group’s wider sustainability programme, through which
it is developing a new generation of PVC grades that meet both the rigorous product quality and performance needs
of customers, whilst moving the Group closer towards a circular, carbon-neutral economy for PVC. Driven by the
increasing global focus on the circular economy, there is a growing demand for specialist, renewable PVC that
decouples its production from the conventional use of virgin fossil feedstocks. BIOVYN™ meets that demand and
demonstrates that the Group can substitute the use of virgin fossil feedstocks without compromising the unique product
qualities such as durability, flexibility and recyclability that make PVC one of the most widely used, sustainable
plastics in the world. It is expected to have numerous value-added applications across a range of industry sectors,
including highly specialised end-uses such as automotive and medical.

In addition, the Group launched a new business to develop and build clean hydrogen capacity across Europe, in support
of the drive towards a zero-carbon future. As Europe’s largest exiting operator of electrolysis, the Group is able to
utilise this critical technology which uses renewable energy to produce hydrogen. Currently, the Group produces
300,000 tonnes of hydrogen a year mainly as a co-product from its chemical manufacturing operations. As a key
sustainability goal, the Group aims to substitute the natural gas that it currently uses in operations with clean hydrogen
to contribute to the decarbonisation of the Group’s industrial assets. Clean hydrogen will also be used to decarbonise
transport between the Group’s sites and to customers (trucks and maritime transport). The Group is currently involved
“in several projects to develop demand for hydrogen, replacing existing carbon-based sources of energy, feedstocks
and fuel. It expects to develop further partnerships with leading organisations involved in the development of new
applications.

The Group is a major funder and supporter of a number of European Voluntary Commitments including both
VinylPlus® and EuroChlor. Each year VinylPlus® has shown growth in post-consumer PVC recycling achieving
771 kilo tonnes of PVC recycling in 2019, with a target of 800 kilo tonnes by the end of 2020. This represents
approximately one third of all PVC waste generated in Europe. The Group is also a signatory to Operation Clean
Sweep®, a global initiative to ensure that there are no losses of plastic powders or pellets to the environment
throughout any stage of its operations. Operation Clean Sweep® is a top priority for the European Plastics industry
through the pan-European trade association, PlasticsEurope.

Branches outside the United Kingdom

Sales branches of the Group engaging in sales support activities have been established in Austria, Belgium, France,
Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United
‘Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law),
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. Under company
law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
¢ make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless. it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:
e properly select and apply accounting policies;

e present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information;

e provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s
financial position and financial performance; and

e make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on
the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

The directors confirm that as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware and that they have taken all steps necessary as directors in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. This
confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provision of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Independent auditors

In accordance with Section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting for reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.
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Registered address

INOVYN Limited

Bankes Lane Office

Bankes Lane .
P.O. Box 9, Runcomn

Cheshire, WA7 4JE

United Kingdom

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

ol

D J Horrocks
Director
5 July 2021

€

18



Section 2 — Consolidated Financial Statements

19



INOVYN LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INOVYN LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

o the financial statements of Inovyn Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020
and of the Group’s and parent company’s profit for the year then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006:

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and

o the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
e the consolidated income statement;
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
the consolidated balance sheet;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity;
the consolidated cash flow statement;
the related notes 1 to 33.
the parent company profit and loss account;
the parent company balance sheet
the parent company statement of changes in equity; and
the related notes 1 to 12.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is
applicable law and international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
_law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individuaily or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information within the annual report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation
of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of
management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud within revenue recognition due to
pressures to meet stakeholder expectations could provide incentives to record revenue where risk and reward have not
passed. Our specific procedures performed to address the risk are described below:

e existence of non-rountine revenue transactions has been addressed by performing a three way match between
sales invoices, good despactch documents and proof of payment. Those items which did not appear to follow
the typical transaction process were investigated and agreed through to invoice, payment and an
understanding of the transaction was obtained

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identified the
key laws and regulations that:
e had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
These included UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation etc; and
e do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to
the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.
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We discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal
specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may
exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the
risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are
unusual or outside the normal course of business. '

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud (continued)

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

e reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks
of material misstatement due to fraud;

e enquiring of management and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims,
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing any correspondence with
HMRC and other tax authorities.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:
e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

/«m%

Matthew Hughes BSc (Hons) ACA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Leeds, United Kingdom

5 July 2021
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Note 2020 2019
€m
REVEIUE .........ooeveeiieeeeeiieeteetescteseseeeseeesseessaessessresesessnessseeatsssesssnesatainees 2 2,878.2 3,1054
Cost of sales before exceptional iHEmS ...........ccceeieerrieieeenrininnineinieninns (1,963.4) (2,162.5)
Exceptional cost of SAlES .........cccouvivcuiiiiiiccniieee e 5 9.2) (21.9)
Total COSt OF SAIES ....vveeciueieiriereeerter e (1,972.6) (2,183.9)
Gross profit 905.6 921.5
" DISEDULION COSES.vuvivvenirivierrisisietisesessierisesssessseenesssesesssssssassesssesssesesenens (350.9) (348.8)
Administrative expenses before exceptional items...........coccvvivivininininn (146.6) (156.5)
Exceptional administrative eXpenSes...........coeiverreerneeienienssisiniesennssesnnnns 5 - (30.2)
Total adminiStrative EXPENSES ........cecvererrrerrirreerreeesissuesisssisessessesnssnnns (146.6) (186.7)
Operating profit 6 408.1 386.0
Share of gain of associated UNAErtaKINgS.......vvveveeecereesressns e es e seenens 13 1.5 -
Loss on disposal of fixed assets.........ccocvvvviviinivireneniieneiieninnnccnnnenneees 11 : (0.5) -
Profit before net finance costs 409.1 386.0
Finance inCome........ovvvccrimnrceinnennnsd ettt s 9 224 23.1
Finance costs before exceptional items ..........ccccvveiiniiniriennnicesieeieennen, 9 (50.7) (39.5)
Exceptional finance COStS .......ccecurmiiciiiiniiiiiiiinriinrcie it s 5,9 (16.7) -
Total fINANCE COSES....uviiiiiiiteeeereeeereeenreeeeerieenneeeneescaesssersbessressnssrresnnes 9 (67.4) (39.5)
Profit before tax 364.1 369.6
TAX CHATZE ..vvvvieeeeeieie ettt st s e sa s s s st sa e an s 10 (75.4) (67.7)
Profit for the year 288.7 301.9
Profit attributable to: )
- Owners of the parent ........cc.ccocveiiiiniiiiinnce e 288.7 301.9

All activities of the Group relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DECEMBER 2020
2020 2019
€m
Profit for the year 288.7 301.9
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations net of tax......... 17.9 9.2)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign exchange translation differences of subsidiaries ...........cccovevenen... (20.7) 3.6
Total other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax................ 2.8) (5.6)
Total comprehensive income for the year : 285.9 296.3

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1
Intangible assets 12
Investments in equity-accounted investees 13
Other investments. 13
Other receivables 16
Deferred tax assets 14
Employee benefits 21
Total non-carvent assets
Current assets
Inventories 15
Trade and other receivables. 16
Tax receivables for cumrent tax
Cash and cash equivalents 17,27
Totsl carrent assets
Total assets
Equity sttyibutable to owners of the parent
Share capital 24
Share premium resesve
Merger reserve 25
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Total equity
Non-current lisbilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 18
Lease liabilities 19
Trade and other payables. 20
Employee benefits 21
Provisions 22
Deferred tax liabilities 14
Total non-current Habilities
Current linbilities
Interest-bearing loauns and boryrowings 18
Lease liabilities. 19
Trade and other payables. 20
Tax lisbilities for current tax
Other financial liabilities........ 23
Provisions . 22
‘Total current liabilities
Total iabllittes
Tota} equity and linbilities

220 _ 2019
€m
1,439.0 1,419.5
40.1 8.8
149 134
49 5.0
385 3510
1374 153.6
330 265
L7078 1978
250.0 265.0
5128 491.6
39 102
183 ____ 642
885.0 8310
25928 28088
845 84.5
(434.8) (434.8)
465.1 548.5
663 691
1811 2673
1,096.9 880.4
60.8 533
1113 1234
220.5 2735
68.9 74.1
834 79.8
_ 16418 1,484.5
- 8.2
274 239
674.1 950.2
302 35.5
11.5 34
. 267 358
7699 1,057.0
24117 2,5415
2.592.8 2.808.8

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consotidated financial statements.
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

ot

Registered number: 08696245

“Dhowmall

D J Horrocks
Director

INOVYN Limited .



INOVYN LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDE
31 DECEMBER 2020

Share  Share premium  Merger Retained Other

capital reserve reserve earnings reserves Total equity
Balance at 31 December 2018 . 8.4.5 (375.2) 558.6 74.7 3426
Profit for the year ..........ccccovcevvvvicniinininniineenne - - - 301.9 - 301.9
Other prehensive (exp )i :
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit
obligations net of tax ......ccocoeeceivrcinrecnicniineiinnes - : . - 9.2) 9.2)
Foreign exchange translation differences of )
SUDSIAIATIES ....c.ceereeceeeerece et - - - - 3.6 3.6
Total other comprehensive expense..........c.cceuue. - - - - (5.6) 5.6)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity:
Acquisition of business under common control..... - . (59.6) - - (59.6)
DiIvidends ......ovvvcerieivercci et - - - (312.0) - (312.0)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity - - (59.6) (312.0) - (371.6)
Balance at 31 December 2019 ..........cecvuvionsosnes - 84.5 (434.8) 548.5 69.1 267.3
Profit for the year ...........ccooviiivciinniininiiiiiniinnnn - - - 288.7 - 288.7
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit
obligations net of tax .........cc.ecevviiniiiiiiiniinieniens - - - - 17.9 17.9
Foreign exchange translation differences of
SUDSIATATIES ...t et e e eene e seraene - - - - (20.7) 20.7)
Total other comprehensive eXpense...........cceee.. - - - - (2.8) (2.8)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity:
Dividends ......cccceeererircecnneeenenneeen s - - - (372.1) - (372.1)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity - - - 372.1) - 372.1)
Balance at 31 December 2020 - 845 (434.8) 465.1 66.3 181.1

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2020

Analysis of other reserves:

Other

Balance at 1 January 2019
Foreign exchange translation differences of subsidiaries..................

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations net of tax.

Balance at 31 December 2019

Foreign exchange translation differences of subsidiaries..................

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations net of tax.

Balance at 31 December 2020

Translation Actuarial
reserve reserve reserves
€m
©9.5) 84.2 74.7
3.6 - 3.6
- (9.2) 9.2)
(5.9) 750 __ 69.1
(20.7) - " (20.7)
- 17.9 179
(26.6) 92.9 66.3

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INOVYN LIMITED .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

Note 2020 2019
€m

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit fOr the YEar ..c.oovcueemiiiiicicetet ettt 288.7 301.9
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairment ............ccoeviininini e 11 182.0 166.6
AMOTHSAION ... veueenetiere sttt ettt st sa s e rasaesans 12 1.8 1.9
NEt FINANCE COSES nvvrerrrrreeirreerreerireeeesreererreesessassssessssseessssaessssassssesesssessnses 9 45.0 16.4
Share of loss of associated Undertakings .........cccceeeervereerrenrercceneercnrcecnennes 13 1.5 -
Loss on disposal of fixed assets.........ccccovereecomiiiiniinicicne s 11 0.5 .
TaX CRATEZE .. ioviceeei ettt ettt ssa s 10 75.4 67.7
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables .........ooooieiiiiinininnnnnnn. (41.1) 96.6
Decrease/(increase) in iNVENTOTIES ......coc.evveerrrceerenicriinecenecnesnsnissonenes 10.4 (11.4)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables ..........cccoccevevveniniicvcennnne 62.9 (60.6)
Decrease in provisions and employee benefits...........cccuen..... e (63.9) 20.7)
TAX PAI...cueevree ettt et ae e sae s a e n et easian (42.6) (129.4)
Net cash from operating activities 517.6 429.0
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest and other finance income received.................... deeeeresrenrenreneenennenas ‘ 0.3 03
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of ..........ccccoooriiiinieinnne. 3 1.5 2.5
Reduction/(acquisition) of other investments............cccccvveiiniienecnnennnns 13 0.1 (4.8)
Repayment of loan by associated undertaking ..........coccocvvevvvcnencniinns 1.6 -
Acquisition of other BUSINESS ..........cccvvviviniiiiininiiiie e 4 (3.6) -
Acquisition of intangible assets...........ccouvvivvirireeiecneienie (44.0) (1.3)
Aborted capital expenditure ... 5 - (20.7)
Acquisition of property, plant and eqUIPMENt ...........cvveecvcniiieieciiien (199.7) (240.8)
Net cash used in investing activities (243.8) (264.8)
Cash flows from financing activities

New Senior Secured Term Loan ........ccovvveeeevereeeeeimeeeeerceeeeerecivesesesnveeens 18 250.0 -
Repayment of Senior Secured Term Loans............cccceveiereiinriinriennnnnne 18 - (8.3)
DEbt ISSUE COSES ...ovmeerrirmciineniiriictetsne e eae ettt b s sser e eaes (6.6) (1.3)
Net (repayment)/draw-down of securitisation facility...........ccooeeerrinnnn. 18 (55.2) 53.9
Cash outflows to INEOS Group™ ..........cccccovvveivininrninreiieneeeeeieesenns (250.3) (301.3)
OthEr J0ANS ......ecvvimiiiiriiiinic e 18 0.2 ©.1)
INIETESE PAIA ....oceveeeeereeeieeeteecteeie et esre et e saenesae b b sresssnenas (30.3) (28.3)
Capital element of lease payments .........ccccovveivieinniinieicienenenicneee e 19 (24.9) (23.5)
Dividend paid™® .......cccccooevriniiiniiie s 24 (100.0) -
Net cash used in financing activities (217.1) (308.9)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents............ooccvevinnnnnne. 56.7 (144.7)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January..........cccocveniniiiniineninnineninneene. 17 64.2 207.7
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held ..., (2.6) 1.2
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 118.3 64.2

* In February 2019, INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc), an indirect subsidiary of INOVYN
Limited, granted a loan of €300.0 million to INEOS Limited, a related party, resulting in a cash outflow from the
Group. In December 2019, INOVYN Finance Limited declared a dividend of €312.0 million. INOVYN Holdings
Limited then declared a dividend in specie of this receivable to INOVYN Limited, who did the same to INEOS Group
Investments Limited, its parent company. Both the loan receivable from INEOS Limited to INOVYN Finance Limited
and the balance payable from INOVYN Finance Limited to INEOS Group Investments Limited remained unpaid as
at 31 December 2019. In addition, the Group lent a further €1.3 million in 2019 to INEOS Group Investments Limited,
a related party, for expenses incurred. In 2020, the Group paid a cash dividend of €100.0 million to INEOS Group
Investments Limited, granted a loan of €250.0 million to INEOS Industries Holdings Limited and paid expenses
totalling €0.3 million on behalf of INEOS Group Investments Limited. The Group subsequently declared a dividend
of €272.1 million on 11 December 2020 as net settlement of the outstanding loans (plus accrued interest) and to settle
outstanding balances with INEOS related party entities.

The notes on pages 29 to 87 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Overview

INOVYN Limited (“the Company™) is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the UK, registered in
England and Wales, and has its registered office at Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire,
UK, WA7 4JE (previously Runcorn Site HQ, South Parade, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire, UK, WA7 4JE).

INOVYN Limited was incorporated on 18 September 2013 and was a dormant company until 1 July 2015 when
INEOS Group Investments Limited (“INEOS”) and Solvay Chlorovinyls Holdings Sarl (“Solvay”) combined their
European chlor-vinyls activities in a joint venture headed by INOVYN Limited.

The formation of a joint venture was not included within the scope of IFRS 3 "Business combinations" and IFRS 2
"Share based payments", and therefore an accounting policy choice was made to adopt predecessor accounting.

On 7 July 2016, the shares held by Solvay were redeemed and INEOS Group Investments Limited became the sole
shareholder of INOVYN Limited.

1.2 Basis of accounting

These financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and equity account the Group’s interest in associated undertakings and recognise its joint arrangements as joint .
operations. The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and
not about its Group.

Whilst there is significant uncertainty due to the COVID-19 crisis, on the basis of the assessment described on page
11, together with a strong balance sheet and access to liquidity, the directors have concluded that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Group financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis and approved by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the European
Union (“Adopted IFRSs”) effective as of 31 December 2020, and with the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to
companies using Adopted IFRSs.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all périods presented
in these Group financial statements.
1.3 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments, financial
instruments and financial assets classified as fair value through the profit or loss, or fair value through other
comprehensive income which are stated at their fair value.

1.4 Functional and presentation currency

The functional and presentational currency of the Group is the currency of its principal operating environment and
has been identified as the Euro.

All financial information presented in Euro has been rounded to the nearest €0.1 million, except when otherwise
stated.

1.5 Changes in accounting policies

From 1 January 2019, the Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time in the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 along with a number of other new standards, although only IFRS 16 has had a material
effect on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces previous leasing guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
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31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.5 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments. These liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

For leases in which the Group is a lessor, no significant impact has arisen. Lessor accounting in IFRS 16 Leases
remains similar to the previous standard IAS 17 Leases, with lessors continuing to classify leases as finance or
operating leases.

The Group has applied IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the ‘modified retrospective approach’ without restatement
of comparative information. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below.

i) Adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 in which the Group is a lessee

The Group has recognised new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for lease contracts previously classified as
operating leases, which include vessels, storage and transportation infrastructure. The nature of expenses related to
those leases has changed because the Group recognises a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest
expense on lease liabilities. Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease, and recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference between
actual lease payments and the expense recognised. In addition, the Group no longer recognises provisions for operating
leases that it assesses to be onerous. Instead, the Group now includes the payments due under the lease in its lease
liability, and recognises any required impairment of the corresponding right-of-use asset.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease and non-lease component, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.

On transition lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised additional lease liabilities of €61.6 million. The table below provides
a reconciliation between operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018 and the lease liability
recognised as at 1 January 2019:

€m
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 . 798
Less: impact Of diSCOUNTING ........coveeiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiei et b e (10.6)
Discounted operating lease commitments at 1 January 2019 69.2
Less: .
Short-term leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense ................... e . (1.6)
Low-value leases recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense (0.3)
Contracts reassessed as SErviCe agrEMENTS.......cc.eevirrrrimrreimerieriirisestestisne s srresnsesesnsesseessessssrees “(6.7)
Add:
Adjustments as a result of different treatment of extension and termination options..................... 1.0
Additional lease liabilities recognised on 1 January 2019 61.6
Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018 .............cocvimiieiniiiincnnciecene 5.9
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 67.5
Of which are:
Current 1€aS€ HADIIHIES ......c.eovereceeieieieieie ettt st sne s ae s 214
Non-current 1€ase Habilities .........ccuevueririerercereiecccrcrecer et s 46.1

67.5

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.7%.

30
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.5 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019:

o  Right-of-use assets — increase of €66.1 million. This includes the leased assets recognised previously as finance
leases of €4.5 million that were reclassified from Property, plant and equipment.

e Property, plant and equipment — decrease of €4.5 million. This relates to the reclassification of leased assets,
previously recognised as finance leases to Right-of-use assets.

e Lease liabilities — increase of €61.6 million. From 1 January 2019, all lease liabilities (including finance leases
recognised as at 31 December 2018) have been categorised within “Lease liabilities” on the balance sheet.

The net impact on retained eamnings at 1 January 2019 was €nil.

The impact on the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019, was as follows:
o Depreciation of right-of-use assets — increase of €23.5 million.

e  Finance costs — increase of €2.2 million.

e Other operating expenses — decrease of €24.6 million.

e Profit for the year — decrease of €1.1 million.

(ii) Practical expedients applied

The Group had a number of arrangements that were not in the legal form of a lease, for which it concluded that the
arrangement contained a lease under /FRIC 4. On transition to IFRS 16, the Group did not apply the practical expedient
to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition. Therefore, the new definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been
applied to all of the contracts in place on transition.

When applying the modified retrospective approach to leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17,
the Group has elected to apply the following practical expedients:

- the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics,

- reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous,

- the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as
short-term leases,

- the accounting for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less as short term leases. The lease payments associated
with them will be recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

- the accounting for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value when it is new as low value leases. The
lease payments associated with them will be recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

- the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application,
and

- the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

(iii) Adjustments in respect of leases where the Group is a lessee and the leases were previously classified as
finance leases under IAS 17

For leases classified as finance leases under IAS 17, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability
at 1 January 2019 were determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under 1AS 17
immediately before that date.

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information

has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting policies under
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately.
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1.5 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Lease policies applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019.
Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.€., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
shorter of the lease term and the useful economic life, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a
purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset,
which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date), amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees less any lease incentives receivable. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period on which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments a change in the assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way and there has been no change in the scope of the lease, a

corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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1.5 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to all leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Group also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases of assets that are valued below €10,000. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.6 New amendments for 2020

The Group has adopted the following amendments to accounting standards for the first time in 2020 with effect from
1 January 2020, although none have had a material effect on the Group’s financial statements in the year unless
otherwise indicated:

e Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business has been adopted from 1 January 2020. The Group has
applied this amendment to business combinations whose acquisition dates are on or after 1 January 2020 in
assessing whether it had acquired a business of a group of assets.

e Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform has been adopted from 1
January 2020. This has been applied retrospectively to hedging relationships that existed at 1 January 2020
or were designated thereafter and that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. These
amendments also apply to any gain or loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve that existed at 1
January 2020.

¢ Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards: The Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting is the foundation on which the IASB develops new accounting standards. The revised
Framework is more comprehensive than the old one — its aim is to provide the Board with the full set of tools
for standard setting. It covers all aspects of standard setting from the objective of financial reporting, to
presentation and disclosures.

" e Amendmentsto IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material: The IASB refined its definition of material to make
it easier to understand. “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.”

1.7 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries .
The consolidated financial statements of INOVYN Limited include all subsidiaries of the Company.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power to direct the activities of the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively.
Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if
doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.
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1.7 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Special purpose entities (“SPE")

A special purpose entity is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group
and the SPEs’ risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE.

The Group has established an SPE, INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited, for a debt securitisation programme.
The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in this SPE. INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited is
controlled by the Group as it was established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers
of the SPE’s management that result in the Group receiving the majority of the benefits related to the SPE’s operations
and net assets, being exposed to the majority of risks arising from the SPE’s activities, and retains the majority of the
residual or ownership risks related to the SPE and its assets. INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited is therefore
regarded as an SPE and has been consolidated in these financial statements.

Associated undertakings

Associated undertakings are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control
over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. Associated undertakings are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in the income statement, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associated undertakings are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associated undertakings are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them all to be joint operations.

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share
of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the financial
statements under the appropriate headings.

The Group has a 50% interest in a joint arrangement called Runcorn MCP Limited, which was set-up together with
VYNOVA Runcorn Limited in 2015 to provide toll production of chlorine and caustic soda to the two shareholders.

The joint venture agreements in relation to Runcorn MCP Limited require unanimous consent from all parties for all
relevant activities. The two partners have direct rights to the assets of the partnership and are jointly and severally
liable for the liabilities incurred by the partnership. This entity is therefore classified as a joint operation and the Group
recognises its direct right to the jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

The Group, via a joint partnership (“Convention d’Indivision”), owns a 42.5% minority interest in the Feyzin ethylene
cracker in France. The other partner is TOTAL Petrochemicals. As the arrangement is not structured through a
vehicle that is separate from both partners, the joint arrangement is classified as joint operation under IFRS 11 “Joint
Arrangements”.

The Group has a 50% share in GIE Cansel-Bresse, a French Groupement d'Interet Economique which owns brine
infrastructure assets at Etrez, France, and provides solution mining services. The holder of the remaining 50% is
Storengy. As the assets and liabilities, capital expenditure, financing costs and operating expenses are shared evenly
between both shareholders the Group has classified GIE Cansel-Bresse as a joint operation.
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1.8 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation,
are translated to the Group’s presentation currency, Euros, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at an average rate for the year where this rate
approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising from
this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to the translation reserve.

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement
of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a
foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation reserve. Foreign currency differences arising
on the retranslation of a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the
translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged pait of a net investment is disposed of,
the associated cumulative amount in equity is recycled to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

Appropriate average currency rates have been applied for items of the income statement. The following currency
rates have been used at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019:

2020 2019
USD — US DOJIAr ..ottt sssssesss e s caessaneecs 1.2300 1.1203
GBP — British Pound ........ 0.9038 0.8543
NOK - Norwegian Krone 10.5014 9.8359
SEK — SWedish KIona ..........c.cceeieniiineneninecenenesnisresnesossenisesseesesesessssesene 10.0685 10.4405

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement and foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the income statement within finance income or cost. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the income statement within administrative expenses.

1.9 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two
conditions:

(a) They include no contractual obligation upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to
the Group; and

(b) Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments
or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial
assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in debt and equity securities, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

35



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.9 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are tested for classification as per IFRS 9. If the trade

receivables meet the cash flow characteristics and business model tests as per IFRS 9, then they are recognised at
amortised cost. If they do not qualify for being recognised at amortised cost they are recognised at fair value through
profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Investments in debt and equity securities

Investments in debt securities are measured at amortised cost if they meet both of the following condmons and are not
designated as a fair value through profit or loss:

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and . .

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as a fair value through profit and loss:

,

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets, including derivatives, are classified as measured at fair value through profit and loss. When
these financial assets are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is
recognised in the income statement. Where these financial assets are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement. Where no reliable measurement of fair value is
available, investments are stated at historic acquisition cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Groups cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of only the statement of cash flows.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Debt restructuring

The Group derecognises financial liabilities in accordance with the provisions in IFRS 9, with the difference between
carrying amount of the financial liability and the consideration taken to the income statement. When debt is modified,
the Group analyses the modifications from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective to determine if the
modifications are substantial and meet the IFRS requirements for de-recognition, in which case the debt is treated as
extinguished. All fees paid in connection with a debt extinguishment are expensed immediately. When a modification
is accounted for as a non-substantial modification, associated fees incurred are deferred as an adjustment to the
carrying value of the liability and amortised using the effective interest method.
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1.9 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on subsequent remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense. Where
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item
being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative that is recognised in hedging reserve is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item,
determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense.

Where the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability,
the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the initial carrying
amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability,
the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss, e.g. when interest income
or expense is recognised.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated cumulative gain
or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an adjustment to revenue and
cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects revenue and cost of
sales in the consolidated income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity
and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no
“longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the
consolidated income statement immediately.

1.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include the cost of
materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended
use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the date an asset is brought
into service. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 10 to 50 years
Plant and Equipment
Major items of plant 10 to 30 years
Major plant overhauls 2 to 4 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computer hardware and major software 2 to 4 years
Fixtures and fittings S to 10 years
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1.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the consolidated income statement in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

1.11 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets
Business combinations

Business combinations are defined according to IFRS 3 as a transaction or another event in which the acquirer achieves
control over one or several businesses of the acquiree. All business combinations are accounted for by applying the
purchase method, except acquisitions under common control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Goodwill
represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities and represents the
difference between the cost of the acquisition and the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired. Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities, are expensed as incurred.

On a transaction-by-transaction basis, the Group elects to measure non-controlling interests, which have both present
ownership interests and are entitled to a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of liquidation,
either at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets of the
acquiree at the acquisition date.

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of control are accounted for as
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such
transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the
subsidiary. Any difference between the price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are
adjusted is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of the assets
acquired and consideration paid is recognised in retained earnings within the merger reserve.

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of businesses is presented within intangible assets. Goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units and is not amortised
but is tested annually for impairment.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.
Other intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the aggregate
amount paid and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An intangible asset acquired as part
of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual
or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.

The Group’s intangible assets principally comprise of intellectual property rights, the cost of software, regulatory
licenses and costs associated with obtaining access to pipelines owned by third parties.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and goodwill are
systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they
are available for use. The estimated useful lives are S to 10 years.

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on an annual basis
and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.
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1.11 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised within intangible assets if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete
development, future economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development. Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of
new or substantially improved products or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads and capitalised borrowing costs. Other development expenditure is
recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses.

1.12 Impairment
Impairment of Financial assets

Trade and other receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach when providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9 for its
trade receivables and contract assets. This approach requires the Group to recognise the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables taking in consideration historical as well as forward-looking information.

Financial assets which are considered low risk are not provided for impairment by the Group.

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

Investments in debt and equity securities

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as FVOCI increases and the increase can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.

Impairment of equity securities classified as FVOCI are not tested for impairment under IFRS 9.

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are assessed
at the end of the reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
on a pro-rata basis. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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1.12  Impairment (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets (continued)

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.13 Inventories

Inventories, excluding engineering stocks and maintenance spares, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories,
production or conversion costs and other costs of bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of
manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal
operating capacity.

Items owned by the Group that are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are included as part of the Group’s
inventory.

Engineering stocks and maintenance spares are valued at moving average price. Catalysts, which are part of the
chemical reaction -and are consumed in the production process, are held as raw materials and consumables within
inventories. These are consumed over a certain period, depending on their renewal cycles, according to normal
production levels.

Cost of sales includes direct costs of raw material, distribution and handling costs.

1.14 Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial items in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use contracts) are not accounted for
as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory contracts.

1.15 Government grants and similar deferred income

Government grants and similar deferred income are shown in the balance sheet as deferred income. This income is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to which it relates or the life of the
related project.

1.16 Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans and funded and unfunded defined benefit pension schemes.
The Group also provides unfunded early retirement benefits, long service awards and an incentive plan for certain
employees.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net
obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is calculated separately for
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets
are deducted. The discount rate is based on the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity
dates in line with the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
are expected to be paid.
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1.16  Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability from actuarial gains and losses and returns on plan assets greater
than the discount rate are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net
interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability, taking into
account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense is included in finance cost; all other components of employee benefit costs related to
defined benefit plans are recognised as personnel expenses in the income statement.

The calculation is performed annually on the basis of an actuarial report using the projected unit credit method. When
the calculation results in a defined benefit asset to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to
the plan. In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding
requirements that apply to the plan. An economic benefit is available to the Group if it is realisable during the life of
the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities. The change in the present value of the future benefits resulting from
a plan change or a curtailment is recognised as past service cost in the consolidated income statement in the year in
which they occur.

The Group recognises gains and losses from a settlement of a defined benefit plan in the income statement when the
settlement occurs. The gain or loss on settlement is the difference between the present value of the defined benefit
obligation to be settled and the settlement price including payments made directly by the company in connection with
the settlement.

Certain of the Group’s pension plans include multi-employer schemes for employees of the Group and other INEOS
or Solvay group companies. The method used to split the results between the Group and the other participating
employers is as follows:

¢ Most members are allocated to a specific company, but where this was not possible members are allocated
to the largest employer within the Group.

e Active scheme liabilities are allocated pro-rata based on the relative value of accrued pensions for active
members. Deferred and pensioner members are allocated to the largest employer within the Group.

e Total assets and cash flows are allocated in proportion to accrued pensions.

e The allocation of total scheme liabilities is based on data collected at the last valuation date and this
proportionate split has been applied consistently in the calculations.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short or medium-term cash bonus if the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

1.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting
from past operations or events that can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition requires the application of
judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change. Provisions are discounted at risk free
pre-tax rates based on country specific government bond yields which match the maturity of the expected future cash
flows. The unwinding of the discount is recognised in finance costs.

Estimated direct costs to be incurred in connection with restructuring measures are provided for when the Group has
a constructive obligation, which is generally the same as the announcement date. The announcement date is the date
on which the plan is announced in sufficient detail such that employees have valid expectations that the restructuring
will be carried out.

The Group is exposed to environmental and remediation liabilities relating to its past operations. Provision for these
costs is made when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to carry out remediation works and costs can be
estimated within a reasonable range of possible outcomes.
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1.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.19 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products and services sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Contracts for goods and services are analysed to determine the distinct
performance obligations against which revenue should be recognised. The amount to be recognised is determined
from the standalone selling prices for goods and services, allocated to the performance obligations. Revenue is
recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to a
customer.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market contracts and arrangements) or is linked by a
formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula contracts). Revenue arising from
the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are dispatched or delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms
and point at which the control of the good or service is transferred to the customer.

The Group applies the five step model for revenue recognition, introduced by IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. This model allows the Group to identify the contract with a customer; to determine the performance
obligations in the contract; to establish the transaction price, which is later allocated to the performance obligations in
the contract; and to recognise revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a performance obligation, that is, that the control
of the asset is transferred to the customer.

The Group has a limited number of contracts that include distinct performance obligations (being primarily separate
shipping obligations), which can potentially result in revenue been recognised later in time.

Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of variable consideration in the form of early settlement
discount or retrospective volume discounts. If it is highly probable that an early settlement discount will be taken and
the amount is not expected to reverse when the variability is resolved, the discount is recognised as a reduction of
revenue as the sales are recognised. If a volume discount applies retrospectively to all sales under the contract once a
certain threshold is achieved, an estimate of the volumes to be sold and the resulting discount is calculated in
determining the transaction price and this calculation is updated throughout the term of the contract.

Time and location swap contracts with third parties for commodities and finished goods are excluded from turnover
and cost of sales.

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other companies with
facilities on the Group’s sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time or over-time depending on whether the over-
time revenue recognition criteria is met.

1.20 Finance income and costs

Interest income and interest expenses are accounted for applying the effective interest method. Interest income includes
interest income on funds invested and fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest
expenses include interest expense on borrowings, the interest component of employee benefit costs net of returns on plan
assets, the unwinding of the discount on provisions and fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid is
included in interest expense. Gains and losses from the measurement of monetary assets or liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are included in finance income and costs.

Costs associated with raising finance are deducted from the gross proceeds in the balance sheet and amortised over the
term of the relevant financing at a constant rate over the carrying amount.
1.21 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. A
provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but is considered probable that
there will be a future outflow of funds
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1.21 Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided
for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

1.22 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the
comparative income statement is restated as if the operation has been discontinued from the start of the previous
financial year.

1.23 Disposal groups held for sale

Disposal groups are classified as assets and liabilities held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

1.24 Segmental analysis

The Group determines its operating segments in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments. The chief operating decision-makers are the members of the Executive
Committee who report into the shareholder, INEOS Group Investments Limited.

Details of the Group operating segments and the segmental analysis of revenue and EBITDA are shown in note 2.

1.25 Exceptional items

The presentation of the Group’s results separately identifies the effect of profits and losses on the disposal of
businesses, the impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired businesses, the impact of one off
events such as legal settlements or finance costs relating to call premia and write-off of unamortised debt issue costs
following substantial modification or redemption of debt as exceptional items. Results excluding disposals,
impairments, restructuring costs and one off items are used by management and are presented in order to provide
readers with a clear and consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance of the Group’s ongoing
business.

1.26 Securitisation

Certain Group companies are parties to a receivables securitisation programme in which various subsidiaries sell trade
receivables to INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited (“INFIL”), a special purpose vehicle, for a discounted rate.
INFIL pledges the receivables as security for borrowings from conduit lenders. The cash borrowed by INFIL from the
conduit lenders, less a financing cost, is lent to the Group companies. The financing cost is recognised in interest
payable. The risks and rewards of ownership of the receivables are retained by the Group and therefore INFIL has
been included in the financial statements as a quasi-subsidiary.

43



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.27  Emissions Trading scheme

The Group participates in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme. The Scheme encourages companies to reduce carbon
emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets. If a company reduces
emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of emissions permits.

The incentive money due from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme is recognised in the consolidated income statement
once the reduction targets have been met. The emissions permits allocated under the Scheme are at nil cost. Any
additional emission permits that are purchased are recognised as intangible assets. The Group recognises the revenue
from such permits upon their sale to third parties.

The Group recognises a provision for emissions produced. The provision is measured at the carrying amount of the
emission rights held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the case of a shortfall, at the current fair value of the
emission rights needed.

1.28 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2021 and -
earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing
these consolidated financial statements.

The impact of their adoption is being assessed and is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements in the period of initial application unless otherwise indicated.

e Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (effective
date 1 January 2021).

e Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective date 1 January 2022).
¢ Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 3 (effective date 1 January 2022).

e Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use (effective date 1
January 2022).

e  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (effective date 1 January 2022).
e IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date 1 January 2023).

e Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (effective date 1 January 2023).

2 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

Revenue and EBITDA before exceptional items are key measures used by the chief operating decision makers of the
Group to assess the performance of the Business segments.

The Group divides its operations into four businesses:

- General Purpose Vinyls, consisting of a portfolio of Suspension PVC products and PVC Resins, and output
that the Group both consumes and sells from its interest in the Feyzin cracker.

- Specialty Vinyls, consisting of Emulsion PVC and specialty grade Suspension PVC products.

- Organic Chlorine Derivatives, consisting of various chlorine derivatives including chlorinated paraffins,
chloromethanes, allyl chloride and epichlorohydrin, plus sulphur chemicals.

- Chlor-Alkali, consisting of caustic soda and caustic potash, chlorine and chlorine by-products, brine and
water, salt and hydrochloric acid.

However, the Group’s financial reporting is limited to three Business segments; General Purpose Vinyls, Specialty
Vinyls, and Other Chemicals. The Other Chemicals segment includes the Organic Chlorine Derivatives business, plus
all products in the Chlor-Alkali business excluding caustic soda and caustic potash. Revenues from caustic soda and
caustic potash are then attributed to the three Business Segments based on the quantities of chlorine contained in the
respective products.
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SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)

For segmental reporting of EBITDA, the results of the caustic soda and caustic potash products (which are co-

P

roduced with chlorine in the electrolysis manufacturing process) included within the Chlor-Alkali operating business

are allocated out to the three segments based on the quantities of chlorine contained in each of their products.

For segmental reporting of revenue, caustic soda and caustic potash revenues are shown both before and after
allocation to three Business segments.

The revenue attributable to each business segment is as follows:

2020 2019
Revenue
Revenue Revenue Revenue after
before Caustic after before Caustic caustic
caustic  soda/potash caustic caustic  soda/potash  soda/potas
soda/potash revenue soda/potash soda/potash revenue h
allocation allocation allocation allocation allocation allocation
€m
General Purpose Vinyls..... 1,208.1 3944 1,602.5 1,279.1 -430.5 1,709.6
Specialty Vinyls................. 348.5 95.7 4442 369.2 116.2 485.4
Other Chemicals................ 509.9 321.6 831.5 503.3 407.1 9104
Caustic soda and caustic
POtash ......courveeernrieiiennnns 811.7 (811.7) - 953.8 (953.8) -
2,878.2 - 2,878.2 3,105.4 - 3,1054
The EBITDA before exceptional items attributable to each business segment is as follows:
2020 2019
€m
EBITDA before exceptionals
General Purpose VINYIS ... 278.7 240.1
Specialty VINYIS..oooucoerveie oot 156.8 156.6
Other CREMICAIS ...cuvecvieeciireeicreccer ettt sas st s s aea e ereene 165.6 2094
601.1 606.1

Reconciliation of earnings before operating exceptional items, interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
(‘EBITDA before exceptional items’) to operating profit:

2020 2019
€m
EBITDA before exceptional items...........ccceeevvvvercniinnicniiniinniienennneenenns e 601.1 606.1
Depreciation and amortisation ...........c.coceevviiiininiiiieress et (183.8) (168.5)
Exceptional items within operating profit (Not€ 5) ........cccovvvierirmninnniiiiniienns 9.2) (51.6)
Operating profit 408.1 386.0
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2 SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)

Geographical analysis - revenues

Geographical information by location of customers ‘ 2020 2019
€m
UK oottt sttt ettt st sa bt se et s bbb b sne e n e ne s Lot 420.0 474.5
RESt OF BUTOPE ...c.veieieiniieic sttt s s sae s b e e sas bt bs 1,979.1 2,163.2
RESt OF WOTIA ...ttt e ettt st st e aasn e sresseeneree s 479.1 467.7
Total 2,878.2 3,105.4
Geographical information by location of trading legal entity 2020 2019
€m
UK oottt ettt e e e es et e e saeb e s s et et esaesen e s e e e e e e ac e e et s b s R b shs b e et et e s nbn 2,484.7 2,652.7
RESt OF EUTOPE ...c.veeietinieictciereerctctt et sttt st sbs s s s s b e s n s s eaeas 344.8 401.0
RSt OF WOTIA ...ttt et ts st ebeas s hes s sae e b s st eae s 48.7 51.7
Total 2,878.2 3,105.4

In presenting information on the basis of geographic analysis of segments, segment revenue is based on the
geographical location of customers and registered address of the Group’s trading legal entities.

A geographic analysis of segment assets is not presented as the necessary information is not available and the directors
are of the opinion that the cost to develop it would be excessive.

3 LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES

Prior to the formation of the INOVYN joint venture, both INEOS and Solvay agreed to sell certain ‘remedy assets’ to
International Chemicals Investor Group (“ICIG”) in order to address competition concerns raised by the European
Commission. The outstanding deferred consideration of €1.5 million was received from ICIG in the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: €2.5 million).

4 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES

Effective on 1 March 2019, the Group acquired INEOS Enterprises Group Limited. and its subsidiary, Keuper Gas
Storage Limited from INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited, a related party. The acquired companies are engaged in
gas storage activities and the manufacture of salt and sulphur chemicals at Runcorn, United Kingdom. The purchase
price of €35.0 million was in the form of a long-term loan agreement with the seller, with interest accruing at a rate
of 4.5% per annum. '

The Group and INEOS Enterprises Group Limited are controlled by the same ultimate parent undertaking, both before
and after the acquisition date. The transaction has therefore been accounted for at book value since the acquisition
involves two parties under common control. The difference between the consideration paid of €35.0 million and the
book value of the assets and liabilities acquired has been recognised within the merger reserve.
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4 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES (continued)
2019
€m
Acquiree’s net liabilities at acquisition date:
Property, plant and €qUIPMEN ..........cuuueiuirmcmiiicim s s 439
RIGNE-0f-USE BSSELS.......vuemreeiecieintc ettt bbb 1.3
DEFEITEA tAX @SSELS ....veurenrenrreereeieuirtrcriete et saeetesnes e s eeresr st bsae b ss b s b b e b e b s b e s e s e et e be et e s et ansessarassnens 44
Inventories........ e teereeeeeeseeeseesssesseesnseesseseeestesiueeenteonteeeeertentebeen e theeaee e h s s e e n e et e e a s s sa b e beea b e eraees 7.4
Trade debtors and other operating receivables .........cocecvviiivciiiiininiiie e 27.5
Trade creditors and other payables ..........cccvveiviiiiiiiniiiicii e (98.4)
Lease LHADIlItIES ....eveuerrrererrreeireceirent ettt st st st n s e SR, (1.3)
Employee benefits %4
Net identifiable assets and liabilities (24.6)
Consideration paid:
Long-term 1oan payable t0 SELIET ..ottt s 35.0
Difference between consideration and net liabilities acquired recognised in merger reserve

59.6

The Group did not incur significant acquisition related costs on legal fees and due diligence costs. These costs have
been included within “administrative expenses” as incurred.

The fair value of acquired trade receivables was €27.5 million. The trade receivables comprise gross contractual
amounts due of €27.5 million, of which none was expected to be uncollectable at the date of acquisition.

For the ten-month period since 1 March 2019, the acquired business contributed revenue of €52.5 million and EBITDA
of €4.6 million. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, revenue and EBITDA of the Group for 2019 would
have increased by €11.4 million and €2.2 million respectively.

On 1 May 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Solvay Tavaux SAS from Solvay. The outstanding deferred
consideration of €3.6 million has been settled following the completion working capital and other negotiations with
Solvay.

5 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2020 2019
€m
Exceptional items included in cost of sales:
Plant closure €Ot .........cciuneuneriecieierereiecs ettt (1.2) 21.4
ENVIironmental COSES® .........cuimrrirrerrinimsinesssecseserseescensissessesecsessssessssmessessesesssses 104 -
9.2 214
Exceptional items included in administrative expenses:
Aborted capital eXpenditure® ............ccovieereeecirieireneieeeer et - 35.2
OLhEr® ...ttt s - (5.0
' - 30.2
Exceptional items excluding finance costs 9.2 51.6
Exceptional finance costs:
Charge on early settlement of debt® ...........cceeverriierrerrenrcerinceeneneserereeneeeenes 16.7 -
25.9 51.6

Total exceptional expenses
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EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (continued)

Exceptional cost of sales and administrative expenses:

M

@

€))

@

In December 2016, the Group closed the last remaining cell room at Runcorn, United Kingdom. The closure was
in response to an EU directive mandating the closure of all mercury-based cell rooms by 11 December 2017.
Provisions were recognised to cover costs associated with the closure such as decommissioning and
decontamination, disposal of elemental mercury, and manpower headcount reductions. In 2019, further provisions
totalling €12.3 million for the demolition of redundant assets were recognised in relation to the closure project.

In October 2015, the Group announced the closure of its SPVC production facilities at Schkopau, Germany, due
to the cessation of its VCM supply contract with The Dow Chemical Company, and provisions relating to
manpower reductions, onerous leases, fixed asset and stock write-downs, dismantling, decommissioning and
demolition costs were created. In 2019, following a re-estimation of final project costs, the provision was
increased by €1.2 million.

In 2013 the decision was made to close the cell room in Withelmshaven, Germany. In 2019, further closure costs
totalling €4.6 million were recognised relating to this asset.

In December 2015, the Group announced the closure of the chloromethanes facility at Runcorn in the United
Kingdom with production being focused on INOVYN’s other chloromethanes assets at Tavaux, France and
Rosignano, Italy. In 2019, further exceptional charges totalling €3.0 million for asset demolition costs were
recognised in relation to the closure project. In 2020, €0.9 million was released from the provision following a
re-estimate of the remaining costs to be incurred.

In 2018, the production of chlorinated paraffins at Baleycourt, France was transferred to Runcorn, United
Kingdom. Further exceptional restructuring costs of €0.3 million were incurred in 2019.

In June 2018, following a detailed review and the expiration of a REACH authorisation permitting the sale of a
special type of recycled PVC manufactured by Vinyloop Ferrara SpA at its Ferrara facility in Italy, INOVYN and
its minority 40% shareholder, Texyloop SAS decided to terminate operations and to initiate liquidation
proceedings and a provision was made to cover the costs of closure. Following a review of the remaining
estimated costs to complete the liquidation, €0.3 million was released in 2020.

To comply with the obligations of the EU Water Framework directive and to reduce the level of leaching of
historical contamination, a provision for €10.4 million was recognised at Tavaux, France to cover costs associated
with the construction of a sealed cell for certain sedimentation basins and a pilot plant for treatment of
contaminated ground water.

In 2018, the Group embarked on plans for a joint investment with INEOS Oxide in a new membrane cell room at
Cologne, Germany with the aim of producing 280.0 kilo tonnes of electrolysis capacity. In 2019, this project was
cancelled following a review of the project economics and predicted return on investment. In addition, a project
to expand the capacity of the cell room in Lillo, Belgium was also cancelled in 2019. Feasibility costs totalling
€35.2 million were written-off as a result, including €6.1 million of costs capitalised as assets under construction
in 2018, €20.7 million capitalised as assets under construction in 2019 and unbilled amounts from suppliers of
€8.4 million as at 31 December 2019.

The exceptional credit of €5.0 million in 2019 mainly relates to the release of €6.4 million from provisions made
in prior years and a charge of €1.4 million for miscellaneous legal claims and commercial disputes.

Exceptional finance costs:

&)

On 9 March 2020, the Group renegotiated an amendment and upsizing of its existing Term Loan B borrowings
by €250.0 million from €814.3 million to €1,064.3 million. See note 18 for further information. The amendment
has been classified as a substantial debt modification as per IFRS 9 resulting in the write-off of €16.7 million of
unamortized debt issue costs associated with the original Term Loan B.

There is no material effect on the tax charge due to exceptional items.
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6 OPERATING PROFIT

Included in operating profit are the following:

Research and development costs expensed as incurred...........coeeeviieirvcenecnneans
Amortisation of intangible aSSets .........ccccvirrecerniniinnnicn s
Amortisation of GOVEMMENt ZrantS........cccceceremmreeriniiiinnenineinsinrnrese e
Expenses relating to short-term 1€ases.........coccivviniiiniccniccie s
Expenses relating to leases of low value assets........ccooeeeeiiicennniiinicenineenien
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of
the 1€aS€ HADIIILY ... eovveeeeeececiciieiee ettt e s

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - within cost of sales,
distribution costs and administrative expenses

OWNEA @SSELS ....evveeeriirreeriteeitieiteeieereeseeserssrresncsseassessosesesessntssneeresstteessssssssisenns
RiGht-0f-USE @SSELS ....eovuireeeiiiiiciciicte ettt bbb as

Auditor’s remuneration

Audit of these financial Statements............coecevrererereererereccens et nenees
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation.....................
Al OthET SETVICES..c.vevirieieeiiee et steiee e tesseeet s r s s ssasas et sassnssresnenesressaes

2020 2019
€m

13.4 11.6

1.8 1.9

(4.6) (4.8)

7.7 7.4

0.3 0.4

5.1 5.1

156.5 142.4

25.5 24.2

182.0 166.6

2020 2019

€m

02 0.2

1.0 0.9

0.2 -

14 1.1

The total in 2020 and 2019 includes fees paid to Deloitte LLP and its network firms in Europe for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and the audits of the financial statements of the Company and many of its European

subsidiaries.

The audit fee above includes the audit fee of €5,450 (2019: €5,646) for the parent Company.

7 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The monthly average number of persons including directors employed by the Group (including any divestitures up to
the date of disposal and any acquisitions from the date of acquisition) during the year, analysed by category, was as

follows:

Research and development ........c...covvvvevmcrniiiciiiniiiiniii et
AQMINISIFATION ...ttt sttt seb et a s st bbb sanesnen
Production, engineering and diStribution............ccccccoeviviiniiinninnn e

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and SAlATIES .....cccoovererirriinereerrniecene sttt s e s re e
SOCIAl SECUTILY COSES ...evuriiriiriiiriiiiieesieeriist e ecereesteesae e st s ssatsb e st srreaaesanenns
Contributions to defined contribution plans ..........ccceevreciiiinnnenieeieeeenas
Items related to defined benefit plans:

CUITENE SETVICE COSt.nnueuriiiieniriieiieeieraesieteessesrenees st ssssaestesnessssssresnestasssresnenssanas

2020 2019
Number
88 86
578 578
3,383 3,352
4,049 4,016
2020 2019
€m
3135 292.8
67.1 68.8
17.4 16.2
12.4 11.4
410.4 389.2
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2020 2019
€m
Salaries and other short term benefits..........cccovveviineniiiniinies 59 7.2
Company contributions to money purchase schemes..........coovcieviiiincinnnnnn. 04 0.3
6.3 7.5
Highest paid director 2020 2019
€m
Aggregate emMOIUMENLS.......ccivmiiiiiiiiiiiniiiic e aees 1.7 2.7

Three directors have benefits accrued under defined benefit schemes (2019: four). Two directors have benefits
accruing under defined contribution schemes (2019: two). In respect of the highest paid director, there is €0.1 million

(2019: €0.1 million) of accrued pension at the end of the year.

9 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
2020 2019
€m

Finance income
Interest receivable from associated undertakings........ccccoceveieveevenerivcnnncnnnnnennn 2.4 2.7
Interest receivable from related parties .........ccceevvniinivinneeneeiieiceee 19.9 12.8
Net eXChange MOVEMENLS. ....ccoovurierrerieniiieeeteitereretr e sseesatsas s saesreeresereen - 7.0
OthEr INLETESt INCOME «....cvveierrrerieecsericecsesesestesetessssssese s ssnsesesesesecasessaseseacsesssnces 0.1 0.6
Total finance income 224 23.1
Finance costs
Interest payable on Senior Secured Term Loans.................. et 25.9 20.8
Interest payable on securitisation facility .............levivivncnininniii i, 1.6 1.9
Interest payable to related parties ............coccviiiininininiiinc e 1.8 2.0
Amortisation of debt iSSUE COSES......coermiriininiiiiiiniiniiiecicr s 1.6 3.1
Interest payable on right-of-use assets 2.6 2.7
Net fair value 1085 0n derivatives ........cccceeeeverirncciiiiiini i 7.8 04
Net change of rate and unwind of discount on long term provisions .................... 0.8 2.7
Net eXChange MOVEMENLS........coueeuenrerrenrireceeiiieeiiet ettt re st eaees 5.4 -
Interest eXpense on Pension SCHEMES .......ceeveeiciniieiiierseeeenennc s 29 5.6
OhEr INLETESt EXPEINSE .......ceevrrrervereisiseiressseriesassesssssassnsessesessessssssssssssssssssnsssnees 0.3 0.3
Total finance costs before exceptional items 50.7 39.5
Exceptional finance Costs (NOE 5).......courrureucuemeurirererninesceireeinieesisiessiessescsssesenns 16.7 -
Total finance costs 67.4 39.5

45.0 16.4

Net finance costs

Net gains and losses on financial instruments are included in note 26.
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10 TAX CHARGE

Recognised in the consolidated income statement

2020 2019

€m
Current tax expense
CUITENLE tAX EXPEIISE ..eevenreveererinerrenrerreseerercssisestastese s asss e sr e as s aess st s aesnessens 52.7 65.4
Adjustments in respect Of Prior YEars........cccooeiiieniiieiiiininetere e 7.1 4.4
CUITENE tAX EXPENSE ..vvveververeerersersesssssessessesssesensessessessesssassessesssssesesscssesesnsscarinsees 59.8 69.8
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences..........cccoeoevcevvecrenricinncnnnn, 28.8 29.8
Change in tax rates applied to temporary differences...........ccocovvivrinnninins (12.2) 2.7
Adjustments in reSPECt OF PriOT YEATS..............vuervresrermesernssssssssssssssecssssessessessens (1.0) (29.2)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) ...........ovvrverennnes: e v oot r s st r s s aar et nnen 15.6 2.1
Total tax charge 754 67.7
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year 2020 2019

€m
Profit Defore taXation.........cccveeiieiereereeereneee et eisse st ens st s eaeas 364.1 369.6
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2019: 19.0%)......c.ccceevvevennnnene 69.2 70.2
Effect of tax rates in foreign juriSAiCtionS ........cceceveereemrnenecininceeenes 14.9 13.6
Permanent differences .......cc.ccoeeieciriinniniiiiniienec e 2.3) (1.1)
Change in tax rate applied to temporary differences............cccccovvnivnevrrvnnennn. (12.2) ~ (2.7
Current year 10sses not recogniSed ............cociviiiiniiiiniiii e - 12.5
Adjustments in reSpect Of Prior YEarS........covivvvirmerrirerinnieniesitesie et enes 6.1 (24.8)
Associated undertakings results, reported net of tax ...........cccccciviiinicnincinnninn. 0.3) -
Total tax charge 75.4 67.7

The deferred tax assets in the relevant United Kingdom companies at 31 December 2019 were measured using a tax
rate of 17% since the Finance Bill 2016 included legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 19% to
17% from 1 April 2020 . However, deferred taxes are measured at 19% at 31 December 2020, following the decision
to maintain the main corporation tax rate at 19% was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. On 11 March 2021, the Finance Bill
2021 was announced in the United Kingdom, which increased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over

£250,000 from April 2023. Deferred tax assets in the United Kingdom have not been restated.

Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income

2020 2019
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m
Remeasurement of post-
employment benefit )
obligations net of taxes...... 21.3 34 17.9 (12.9) 3.7 9.2)
Foreign exchange
translation differences of
subsidiaries ........coeceeereennnn. (20.7) e (20.7) 3.6 - 3.6
0.6 (3.4 (2.8) (9.3) 3.7 (5.6)
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment,
Land and fixtures Under Right-of-
buildings _and fittings _construction _use assets Total
€m
Cost . :
At 1 January 2019 ..o, 503.6 3,622.1 255.6 - 4,381.3
Impact of adopting IFRS 16 (see note 1)...... - - - 61.6 61.6
Reclassification of finance leases ................. - - (11.5) - 11.5 -
Acquisition of buSiness........cccccoevirvveriinenne 33 31.0 9.6 1.3 45.2
Additions........cooceeiueeeeierecen 26 58.1 183.6 17.4 261.7
Lease modifications and reassessments......... - - - 13.3 133
Reclassification.........cccocveevveeieiverieeniveeneeens 28.6 152.3 (180.9) - -
Aborted capital expenditure...........ccccoueunne. - - 6.1) - 6.1)
DiSPOSals.....cocceeeiirereneirirereenie e - (2.6) - ©0.7) (3.3)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange... 0.6 14.2 1.7 0.8 13.9
At 31 December 2019 538.7 3,863.6 260.1 105.2 4,767.6
Additions.........coevvririrenceeene e 42 104.1 78.5 25.2 212.0
Lease modifications and reassessments ........ - - - 114 11.4
Reclassification.......c.eecvvvevreeeereeeniieeenneenennee 2.9 68.9 (71.8) - -
DiSPOSalS.....oceveciiriiinii e (2.5) (28.6) (0.5) (7.4) (39.0)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange... (0.5) (21.1) (7.3) 0.9) (29.8)
At 31 December 2020 542.8 3,986.9 259.0 133.5 4,922.2
Accumulated depreciation and impairment -
At 1 January 2019 ....cccoovevmeicniiiiiiicinnnne 334.6 2,846.0 - - 3,180.6
Reclassification of finance leases ................. - (7.0) - 7.0 -
Depreciation charge for the year................... 9.9 132.5 - 24.2 166.6
DiSPOSalS....ccccieeririenirrerenrieseeene e - (2.6) - 0.7) (3.3)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange... - 4.1 - 0.1 4.2
At 31 December 2019 ; 344.5 2,973.0 - 30.6 3,348.1
Depreciation charge for the year................... 10.2 146.3 - 25.5 182.0
DiSPOSALS...ccveuiriririeieieiiieneecrtiieee s (2.5) (28.6) - (7.4) (38.5)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange... (0.2) (7.9 - (0.3) (8.4)
At 31 December 2020 352.0 3,082.8 - 48.4 3,483.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 .....ccooenvivnenenecnenee 194.2 890.6 260.1 74.6 1,419.5
At 31 December 2020 190.8 904.1 259.0 85.1 1,439.0

Property, plant and equipment under construction

No borrowing costs were capitalised during the year (2019: €nil).

Leased plant and machinery

The Group leases many assets including land and buildings, vessels, storage and transportation infrastructure,
machinery and motor vehicles which are classified as right-of-use assets. Finance leases with a net book value of €4.5

million as at 31 December 2018 were reclassified into this category on 1 January 2019.

More information regarding right-of-use assets are presented below.

52



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets

31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

Plant and
equipment,
Land and fixtures and
buildings fittings Total
€m

At 1 January 2019 .....ccconiivinicniinenns - - -
Impact of adopting IFRS 16 (see note 1) ........cccovvrueneene. 9.3 52.3 61.6
Reclassification of finance leases .........coceeerveniiiiiincnns - 11.5 11.5
Acquisition of BUSINESS ..........cceuerieverinieninrciiiiecne 1.2 0.1 13
AdAIIONS......eoeiviciiiiricc e 0.1 17.3 17.4
Lease modifications and remeasurements....................... - 133 13.3
DiSPOSALS.....eeeruieieveireieiieietrereereer et st - 0.7) 0.7)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange.........cccceeeenns 0.1 0.7 0.8
At 31 December 2019 10.7 94.5 105.2
AdAIIONS.....eeiiiiiieiee et sae s - 25.2 25.2
Lease modifications and remeasurements....................... 0.9 11.8 11.4
DiSPOSAlS.....cvoviiietiiie 0.1) (7.3) (7.4)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange...........c..oce.c... 0.2) 0.7) 0.9)
At 31 December 2020 10.0 123.5 133.5
At 1 January 2019.....ccconieriiniciccini - - -
Reclassification of finance leases ..........cccevvvvenviniinnnns - 7.0 7.0
Depreciation charge for the year...........cccooviiiininiiicns 0.8 23.4 242
Disposals........ R - 0.7) 0.7)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange.............c......... - 0.1 0.1
At 31 December 2019 0.8 29.8 30.6
Dépreciation charge for the year.........cccovevvicnciiiiinnnn, 0.8 24.7 25.5
DiSPOSalS.....cooviviiiiititiiieit s ©.1 (7.3) (7.4)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange..........c.c........ - (0.3) (0.3)
At 31 December 2020 1.5 46.9 48.4
Net book value

At 31 December 2019 ...c.nunvverrnereererriennsrieseeseseerneeaone 9.9 64.7 74.6
At 31 December 2020 8.5 76.6 85.1

See note 19 for lease obligations related to right-of-use assets.
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intellectual
Develop-  property  Regulatory
ment costs rights licences  Software Other Total
, €m
Cost
At 1 January 2019......ccccvvvrnnennee 3.8 4.1 5.1 9.8 2.7 25.5
AdditionS .......ooeveeieiie e 1.3 0.1 - - - 1.4
At 31 December 2019 - 5.1 4.2 5.1 9.8 2.7 26.9
Additions .......ccvvveerieivieeieeenenn. 1.7 - - 1.3 41.6, 44.6
Disposals .....ccceevreiiiiniiiniiniiinnne, - - - - (11.5) (11.5)
At 31 December 2020..........coco... 6.8 4.2 5.1 11.1 32.8 60.0
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment '
At 1 January 2019......ccccvveennnne 2.1 0.2 4.6 9.3 - 16.2
Amortisation for the year............. 1.2 0.4 0.1 0.2 - 1.9
At 31 December 2019................. 33 0.6 4.7 9.5 - 18.1
Amortisation for the year............. 1.1 0.5 0.1 0.1 - 1.8
At 31 December 2020.........oec... 4.4 11 4.8 9.6 - 19.9
Net book value
At 31 December 2019.................. 1.8 3.6 0.4 0.3 2.7 8.8
At 31 December 2020.......c.ceen. 24 3.1 0.3 1.5 32.8 40.1

Other intangible assets mainly relate to purchases of EU emission allowances which are used to meet the Group’s
CO2 emission obligations.

Amovtisation

The amortisation charge is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

L4
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13 INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2020 2019 reference
INOVYN Holdings Limited* ¥ ..........ccccooorvnreene UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN
FINance plc) .ov.eeeemverureemceeeeerren e sisisienns UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Group Treasury Limited* .................. UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Europe Limited*...........ccccceoviinriininnnn. UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS*") ... Norway Holding company Ordinary - 100% (B)
INOVYN Norge Holdings AS*" .........ccoevrvennnee Norway Holding company Ordinary - 100% (B)
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN Norge AS*.......ccoovivicoinniccrene e Norway and PVC Ordinary 100% 100% (B)
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN Sverige AB*........ccooccuvvemmmvncnnrnricnnes Sweden and PVC Ordinary 100% 100% ©)
INEOS ChlorVinyls Holdings BV ............ccceee Netherlands Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (D)
INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limited ..................... UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Newton Aycliffe Trustees Limited............ UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Services Limited..........c.coveeeoiiciinns UK Service company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Extraction and supply of
INOVYN Enterprises Limited* ..........c.c..ccocomvinne UK brine and water Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limited* ........... UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Newco 2 Limited*.........c.cooceeeevrennnnncn. UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limited*...........ccccoccvvnnene UK and PVC Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Manufacture of salt and
INEOS Enterprises Group Limited® .................... UK sulphur chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Keuper Gas Storage Limited®.............ccccevererurnnes UK Gas storage Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Chior Atlantik GmbH..........c.ccoccovininnnnne Germany Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
Purchase and resale of
INOVYN Americas INC ......cooevvvvreerveneccnirincnns USA chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% F
INOVYN Sales International Limited................... UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Chlor Trustees Limited..........c.coooverveneeee. UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Vinyls UK Ltd.......ccccovervvennercrerrenreennnnes UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Vinyls GmbH & Co KG.........ccocevvevrecnnee Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
INOVYN Schkopau GmbH ...........cccccccvvninnncaenn. Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
INOVYN Sales GmbH .......cccoceriniiiicnnniiiniennen. Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
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13 INVESTMENTS (continued)

O] Vinyloop Ferrara S.p.A. is in the process of being liquidated.

Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2020 2019 reference
EVC Pension Trustees Limited ...........c.cevevieecen. UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Energy Limited.......c.cccoeevinrvcenurnnnnnes UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Kerling Newco 1 Limited*............c.ccccenncrinnnnnnn. UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Kerling Newco 2 Limited®..........cccoccovvvvvnirinennceen UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN Deutschland GmbH* ............cccovenee. Germany and PVC i Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN Espana S.L.......ccoooeeiivenccniinine Spain and PVC Ordinary 100% 100% G)
INOVYN Osterreich GmbH...........c.cccovniene. o Austria Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% H)
INOVYN Belgium SA*. ..........ccovinicrnnnen Belgium Manufacture of chemicals  Ordinary 100% 100% (U]
Manufacture of chemicals .
INOVYN PVC France SAS*® .......ccoovvvvrnrrnnnne France and PVC Ordinary - 100% ()
, Operation of ethylene
INOVYN Olefines France SAS*...........cccoo..... - France cracker Ordinary 100% 100% [4)]
INOVYN Portugal Lda .......cccooeevvrirvvenecenninnn Portugal Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% K)
Purchase and resale of
INOVYN Trade Services SA* .......c.cceovvveercnnennn Belgium chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% [0)]
Manufacture of chemicals
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA*............... Belgium and PVC Ordinary 100% 100% 43}
Manufacture of chlorine
INOVYN France SAS*.........cocooiiiiciiinecrraiens France products Ordinary 100% 100% Q)]
INOVYN Italia S.p.A....cocviiiiiciiceirece s laly Commercial services Ordinary 100% 100% (]
INOVYN Produzione ltalia S.p.A*.......ccceruvuennn Italy Manufacture of chemicals  Ordinary 100% 100% M)
- INOVYN Quimica Espana S.L. ........cc.coovererrrnrnnn. Spain Waste treatment Ordinary 100% 100% G)
Vinyloop Ferrara S.p.A® ..........ccoevrvevnevnrrrnne, Italy PVC Recycling Ordinary 100% 100% L)
’ Limited
by
TTE Training Limited . .........ccccoovvrvvenvernreccnnnn. UK Training company Guarantee 100% 100% (0)
. Limited
by
TTE Apprenticeship Training Agency Limited .... UK Apprenticeship company  Guarantee 100% 100% (8]
INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited ............ L. Ireland Securitisation vehicle Ordinary n/a n/a N)
* In addition to INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc) a guarantor of the Senior Secured Term Loans.
# Shares held directly by INOVYN Limited. All other subsidiaries listed are held indirectly.
1) On 22 August 2020, INOVYN Norge Holdings AS merged into INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS and on 2 September 2020
INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS merged into INOVYN Norge AS.
) Effective 1 March 2019, the Group acquired INEQS finterprises Group Limited and its subsidiary, Keuper Gas Storage Limited from
INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited, a related party (see note 4).
3) On 1 June 2020, INOVYN PVC France SAS was merged into INOVYN France SAS.
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13 INVESTMENTS (continued)

Details of the Group’s other investments are as follows:

Country of Registered
: registration or Class/ percentage of office

Investment incorporation Principal activity shares held reference
Associated
undertakings:
INEOS Runcom (TPS) Thermal Power Station
Holdings Limited ........... UK operator Ordinary/ 60%® (A)
Joint operations: .
Runcorn MCP Limited.... UK Cell room operator Ordinary/ 50%® (A)
GIE Cancel-Bresse.......... France Brine solution mining services Ordinary/ 50%® %)
Other investments:
IndustriEl AS .................. Norway Energy consultancy Ordinary/ 12.5% P)

Sociedad Espariola de
Materiales Plasticos
SEMAPSA ... Spain Plastic waste management Ordinary/8% Q)

Societe Intercommunale
D’Amenagementet

d’Equipement Economic development of

Economique .................. Belgium province of Namur Ordinary/0.17% (R)

BKV GmbH........cccceenne Germany Plastic recycling association  * Ordinary/2.0% (S)
. Fire protection of Rheinberg

VSR GmbH.......ccccocennnes Germany site Ordinary/30.0% (T

APIPVC -u.

Umweltberatung

GesmbH ......c.ocoececnnnnne Austria PVC technology solutions Ordinary/73.2% )

Héllbar Kemi i . Sustainable production

Stenungsund................... Sweden association Ordinary/20.0% W)

Energy For Growth
Societa' Consortile A

Responsabilita’ Limitata. Italy Energy consortium Ordinary/7.3% X
Power to Methanol ' Sustainable methanol
) Antwerp B.V. Belgium production consortium Ordinary/14.3% (Y)
(1) The Group owns shares entitling it to 60% of the voting rights but only 25% of the economic benefits.
2) The Group has a 50% interest in Runcorn MCP Limited, a joint venture company which provides a toll manufacturing service for the

production of chlorine and caustic soda to its shareholders. The holder of the remaining 50% interest is VYNOVA Runcom Limited.

»

3) The Group has a 50% share in GIE Cansel-Bresse, a French Groupement d’Interet Economique which owns brine infrastructure assets
at Etrez, France, and provides solution mining services. The holder of the remaining 50% is Storengy. ’

None of the above other investments are held directly by INOVYN Limited.

Investments in associated undertakings and other investments

Associated Other

undertakings investments Total
€m
At 1 January 2019 133 0.2 13.5
AdAItioNS ....oovevereiiierrtercer ettt e - 4.8 4.8
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ................. 0.1 - 0.1
At 31 December 2019 134 5.0 184
Share of retained €arnings .........c..cocvvveeeesieneeeernerennennas 1.5 - 1.5
AddJItIONS ..ot - 0.1 0.1
RedUCHIONS.....coviiiiiiiiiercciiniceene et - 0.2 (0.2)
At 31 December 2020 14.9 4.9 19.8
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13 INVESTMENTS (continued)

In 2019, the Group via its shareholding in INOVYN Produzione Italia S.p.A became a 7.3% shareholder in Energy
For Growth Societa' Consortile A Responsabilita’ Limitata, a consortium of Italian chemical companies which
contributes to the funding of new interconnector construction projects between Italy and neighbouring countries. A
payment of €4.8 million was made during the year towards new interconnector projects. A reimbursement of €0.2
million relating to a share value adjustment was received in 2020.

In 2020, the Group via its shareholding in INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA became a 14.3% shareholder in
Power to Methanol Antwerp B.V., a consortium of seven partners in a project to facilitate the construction of a
demonstration plant to produce methanol from a combination of captured carbon dioxide and sustainably generated
hydrogen.

Set out below is the summarised financial information of INEOS Runcorn (TPS) Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries -
. (“Runcorn TPS”), which the Group considers to be a material associated undertaking as at 31 December 2019 and
2020. Runcorn TPS is the operator of a ‘Design, Build, Finance and Operate’ contract with the Greater Manchester
Combined authority in the United Kingdom.

Summarised balance sheet

2020 2019
Runcorn TPS
€m
CUITENE @SSELS vvvvreviiieeieiterrestereessesseeneste st e teesesseasassesssessassessessseseassessessenes 9.0 6.9
INON-CUITENE @SSELS ...cuveeurerirreeiiirereetererecseeutestesseeseeseesiessessesseeseeneessessssenes 279 320
Current labilities ........cceerieiieieciicceeeeeeeece ettt 1.9) 2.3)
NON-CUITENt HADIIEIES. ...oeiiiiiiiieiiriieeeeereeec et ceerre e srre s e ssaees (20.1) (23.2)
NEE @SSEES ... cueeeecuirieriiretre et et eee et e ssee e s e et e s e se e s stesesee s see s emeesntrasaaas 14.9 134
Summarised income statement
2020 2019
Runcorn TPS
€m
REVENUE.....c..eiiiii e 9.4 10.5
EXPENSES....oouvinrireiriiie et sreceerete sttt se st st s e e 79 9.3)
Profit for the year 1.5 1.2
The registered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:
Reference Registered office address

(A) Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire, WA7 4JE, United Kingdom

(B) Rafnes Industriomrade, 3966 Stathelle, Norway

© 444-83 Stenungsund, Sweden

(D) Luna Arena, Herikerbergweg 238, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1101 CM

(E) Ludwigstrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

(F) 2036 Foulk Rd, Suite 204, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA

(G) Calle Marie Curie 1-3-5, 08760 Martorell, Barcelona, Spain

H) Schottengasse 1, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austria

4)) Avenue des Olympiades 20, 1140 Brussels, Belgium

Q) 2 Avenue de la République, 39500 Tavaux, France

(K) Rua do Centro Cultural n° 5 — R/C, sala 8, 1700-106 Lisboa, Portugal

(L) Via Marconi 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), Italy

™M) Rosignano Marittimo (LI}, Via Piave 6 CAP 57016, Italy

N Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, Ireland

©O) New Horizons House, New Bridge Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4LT

®P) Postboks 1367 — Vika, 0114 Oslo, Norway

Q) Calle Principe de Vergara 204 — Primero C — 28002, Madrid, Spain

(R) Rue de la Religion, 10, 1400 Nivelles, Belgium
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13 INVESTMENTS (continued)

(S) Mainzer LandstraBe 55, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
@y Xantener Str. 237, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

) Paniglgasse 24/1/19a, A-1040 Wien, Austria

) 12 Rue Raoul Nordling CS 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes, France
w) Fregatten 3, 444-30 Stenungsund, Sweden

X) Via Giovanni Da Procida, 11, 20149, Milan, Italy

(Y) Scheldelaan 480, 2040 Antwerpen, Belgium

14 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Assets Liabilities
€m
Property, plant and equipment.............ccooonnne. 40.8 - -45.9 (65.9) " (65.9)
INVENLOTIES .....ecveeerirreereeereciieste et (0.6) (0.3) 0.3 0.4)
ProviSiONS .......cceveereeeeecieieniereserene e 2.5 33 2.5) 1.7
Tax value of loss carry-forwards..................... 52.3 50.8 - 1.9
Employee benefits.......ccccvviiiiniinccrnnniinnens 39.2 48.7 4.9) @4.5)
Untaxed reserves - - (9.6) 9.2)
Other..c.ooiiiiiitieectee et 3.2 5.2 (0.8) -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) 1374 153.6 834 (19.8)
Movement in deferred tax during the year
2020
Recognised in
equity —
Recognised in translation  Recognised in equity
1 January income statement exchange — actuarial 31 December
€m

Property, plant and equipment . (20.0) (5.3) 0.2 - (25.1)
Inventories .........ccveveeveevecnnnnn. 0.7 0.4 - - (0.3)
Provisions .......cceevveccneennenne 1.6 (1.6) - - -
Tax value of loss carry-
forwards........ccoeveeeinieninininns 52.7 (0.3) ©.1) - 523
Employee benefits 442 (5.8) 0.7 (3.4 343
Untaxed reserves 9.2) - 0.4) - (9.6)
Other ..o 5.2 (3.0). 0.2 - 2.4

73.8 (15.6) (0.8) (3.4 54.0
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14 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year (continued)

2019
Recognised

Recognised in equity -  Recognised

in income translation  in equity —
1 January statement Acquisitions _exchange _ actuarial 31 December

. €m
Property, plant and equipment. (12.9) 5.7 2.8 0.2) (20.0)
INVeNtories ......ccovevvevnvivernnnne - 0.7) - 0.7)
Provisions ........cocceevveeecenneenneens 33 (1.7 - - 1.6
Tax value of loss carry- )

forwards.........corveienninniinnnnn, 50.3 24 - - 52.7
Employee benefits .................. 28.5 10.4 1.6 - 3.7 442
Untaxed reserves (10.0) 0.7 - 0.1 9.2)
Other......cueeeirreeneccerineiens 4.5 0.7 - - 5.2
63.7 2.1 4.4 0.1) 3.7 73.8

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable based on an assessment of expected future profits modelled against the gross tax losses available
over a period of 5 years. The Group did not recognise gross deductible temporary differences of €224.3 million (2019:

€226.1 million).

15 INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumables.....................
WOTK in PTrOZIESS ....oovvvuiineirieniiinninrireeeeenenes
Finished g00ds......c.cccocvvvivvininnininiicnnn,

2020 2019
€m
...................................................... 127.0 122.8
....................................................... 253 33.0
....................................................... 97.7 109.2
250.0 265.0

Raw materials and consumables of €48.4 million (2019: €48.8 million) are expected to be recovered in more than

12 months.

Raw materials, consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognised as cost of sales in the
year amounted to €1,963.4 million (2019: €2,162.5 million). The write-down of inventories to net realisable value
amounted to €nil (2019: €nil). The reversal of previous write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted

to €nil (2019 €nil).

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
€m
Current
Trade TECEIVADIES.....cuvveveeeiiniirceieteriict ettt st ab e 3504 353.1
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings............cccoeveiiinne 347 34.0
Deferred consideration receivable.........oovvcericeecciirinieneninii i - 1.5
Other TECEIVADIES ......iiuiiiiiieietieccteee et ettt b ebe e ers s 109.1 88.2
Prepayments and aCCTUEA INCOME..............o..ververrereerereresrsenesseeseessiscaseesesseasssenenee 18.6 14.8
512.8 491.6
Non-current
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings...........cccocevvecuennnne 345 348.0
Other rECEIVADIES...........eeeiriiireceinceitreetete ettt b 2.5 1.5
Prepayments and acCrued iNCOME. .........c.ererererreeeererereemesscsensersereascrsensisssssssasisnins 1.5 1.5
38.5 351.0
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Trade receivables ageing

The ageing of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period and the expected credit loss rate (ECLR) was:

2020 ) 2019

Gross  Impairment ECLR Gross  Impairment ECLR

€m €m % €m €m %

Not past due........cccevveuenee 341.9 - - 3299 - -
Past due 0 — 30 days........... 5.8 - - 19.8 - -
Past due 31 — 90 days......... 1.6 0.1) 6.3% 2.4 - -
Past due more than 90 days 8.5 (7.3) 85.9% 9.0 (8.0) 88.9%
357.8 (7.4) 2.1% 361.1 (8.0) 2.2%

There were no allowances made against amounts owed by related parties and other receivables during the year (2019:
€nil).

The amounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting period are deemed to be
collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular analyses of the credit worthiness
of customers and external credit checks where appropriate for new customers (see note 26(c)). At 31 December 2019
and 2020 there were no significant trade, related party or other receivable balances classified as “not past due” that
were subsequently impaired. :

Due to the global activities and diversified customer structure of the Group, the management considers that there is
no significant concentration of credit risk (2019: nil).

During 2019 and 2020 there were no significant trade balances that were subject to material renegotiation of terms.

Trade receivable balances totalling €315.0 million (2019: €310.6 million) have been pledged as security against
amounts drawn under the Securitisation Facility, totalling €nil (2019: €55.2 million). In accordance with IFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” the trade receivable balances pledged as security do not qualify for derecognition and are
included within the trade receivable balances above.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables (as per this note) during the year was
as follows:

2020 2019
€m
Balance at 1 JAanUary ........ccccoeveerenecienenr et et (8.0) (7.0)
Impairment 10SS TECOZNISEd ........cccviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiir e (1.2) 0.9)
UIESEA ...ttt sttt ettt s e s e s eb b sa e ensenens 1.7 -
Effects of movement in foreign eXChange ...........c.ceueuurvrieenermececeneeeemieeenienieniens 0.1 0.1)
Balance 31 December 4 (8.0)

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record any impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that
no recovery of the amount owing is probable; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against
the trade receivables directly.

The Group applies the forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model in line with IFRS 9 in assessing the
recoverability of trade receivables. The ECL is calculated considering past experiences and management’s estimate
of future developments. Management expects no considerable change in the future market situation. Consequently,
the future credit losses in the ECL model are in the same range as the credit losses experienced in the past years. This
is regarded as the future expectation of the inherent credit risk of the not impaired trade and other receivables
outstanding. The Group reviews the assumptions of the ECL model on a yearly basis.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Credit risk of trade receivables

2020 2019
€m
LLOW et e et e ete et et et s e aeat e e esa e be e s er s e e re s e saas e et e beeas et ebesb b e st st te s benbessaenes 349.0 351.7
IMEAIUIM ...ttt sttt b et a e s s ab s s an b 1.8 1.5
High oo e n s 70 . 7.9
IMPAITMENt AIIOWANCE <......cvorvereeeiensereereesseseessssesssssessessesssssssassssssssssessssssesessncses (74) (8.0)
3504 353.1

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents held by the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
€m
| ST o SO O PO PP POUPPPPIPROROPPPPNE 77.6 39.5
UK POUN.c...ooiiiiiiiieieeeeeectiteeciitees s e ccaraeneeesesaesanesnesasssssstasssstaesssssasessasneasssnnnnes 13.5 14.0
LO I 5 7o) | - U U U USRS 6.9 3.5
OUNET CUITENCIES ..veeeeeereeeeeereeeeeeeeneseseeeeesssseseetsastssessesstssssesessassessssssassssesesssnasasa 20.3 7.2
Cash and cash equivalents 118.3 64.2

Bank balances include an amount of €47.4 million (2019: €9.9 million) representing funds in collection accounts that
facilitate the trade receivable securitisation programme and which are pledged to the lenders. These funds are available
to the Group. Included within cash as of 31 December 2020 are restricted cash balances of €10.2 million (31 December
2019: €14.7 million).

18 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign
currency risk see note 26(e).

2020 2019
€m

Non-current liabilities

Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025.......coooeeiieiiiiiecieereeccre et rvcnne e 1,064.3 806.1
Loan from related Party .........ccceeeererimmereennnesinic et : 38.0 36.4
Securitisation facility......c.ooereeveeeccininniiiii - 55.2
OLRET LOANS ...ttt eeetesa s st et eeeea s et sa st esaessae st enssasesesansntesesenasass 0.3 0.1
Gross BOrFOWINES .......ccccoooiiiiiiiiierrceiii e e 1,102.6 897.8
Less: unamortiSed fINANCE COSIS .vuvviiivrrrrieiieeiiiereieciireeeesererreessssereeesseesssesasesnnes (5.7) (17.4)
Net borrowings 1,096.9 8804
Current liabilities

Securitisation facility - -
Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025........c.ovvvevirerereeeiereeevevesevesesnenessssesennns - 8.2
Gross BOITOWINGS ..........ccociiiiiiiiiiice e e - 8.2
Less: unamortised fINANCE COSES ......cuververiieerreieeierieecrieesree st csseseeestsseaesieees - -
Net borrowings - 8.2

Following the implementation of IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, all lease liabilities (including finance lease
recognised at 31 December 2018) have been categorised within “Lease liabilities” on the balance sheet (see note 19).
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18 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Gross debt and issue costs 2020

Gross loans

and Net loans and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
€m
Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025...........cocovveevvvivnnnnens 1,064.3 (5.6) 1,058.7
Loan from related party .......ccccovveecemnernvcnnieneceniennsinnnineanenns 38.0 - 38.0
Securitisation facility........cocecerririenriniiinieni e - 0.1 0.1
Other 10ans .......c..ccevvuereernnen. ettt entan 0.3 - 0.3
1,102.6 (5.7) 1,096.9

Gross debt and issue costs _ 2019

Gross loans

and Net loans and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
€m
Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025..........cocenveeenennvnncnnnne 8143 (17.2) 797.1
Loan from related party ......c.coccecvvvereeercenienienicneinenenninnnnnens 36.4 - 36.4
Securitisation facility........cocvvvevriineennciiiinicn 55.2 0.2) 55.0
Other 10ANS ..c.veiveiiniere et ettt ettt eee e sas s 0.1 - 0.1
906.0 (17.4) 888.6
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Year of
Currency Nominal interest rate maturity

Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025 ......... € EURIBOR (floor 0.5%) + 2.00% - 2027
Securitisation facility ............cccecevvnnicniiiinnnas $/€/E Variable 2021

Senior Secured Term Loans

On 13 May 2016, INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc) entered into a Credit Agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) with, inter alia, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited as Administrative Agent, The Bank of New York
Mellon, London Branch as Security Agent and J.P. Morgan Limited as Global Coordinator.

Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, INOVYN Finance Limited fully drew down on 13 May 2016 the Initial
Tranche A Term Commitment of €240.0 million and the Initial Tranche B Euro Term Commitment of €535.0 million
in the form of Senior Secured Term Loans (the “Senior Secured Term Loans™) as described below. The Initial Term
Loan A has subsequently been repaid.

The obligations under the Senior Secured Term Loans are guaranteed by INOVYN Limited and certain of its
subsidiaries on a senior secured basis. The Credit Agreement contains a number of operating and financial covenants
including limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and
dividend payments.

Term Loan B

The initial Term Loan B of €535.0 million bore interest at a rate of EURIBOR (with a floor of 1.0%) plus a margin of
5.25%, payable in arrears on the last day of each interest period, or every three months for interest periods greater than
three months.

Following the repricing of the Term Loan B on 10 November 2016, the revised Term Loan B of €633.7 million bore
interest at a rate of EURIBOR (with a floor of 1.0%) plus a margin of 3.50%.

Following the repricing of the Term Loan B on 10 May 2017, the new Term Loan B of €690.4 million bore interest
at a rate of EURIBOR (with a floor of 0.75%) plus a margin of 3.00%.
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18 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Senior Secured Term Loans (continued)

Term Loan B (continued)

Following the repricing of the Term Loan B and increase of borrowings of €140.0 million on 15 November 2017 the
new Term Loan B of €828.8 million bore interest at a rate of EURIBOR (with a floor of 0.75%) plus a margin of
2.25%.

The interest rate payable on Term Loan B was further reduced on 9 November 2018 to EURIBOR (with a floor of
0.50%) plus a margin of 2.00%, with capital amortization repayable in twenty-seven equal quarterly instalments of
€2,056,380 commencing on 1 April 2019 and finishing on 30 September 2025, plus a final instalment of €767,029,919
on 9 November, 2025. The maturity date was therefore extended from May 2024 to November 2025.

On 9 March 2020, the Group agreed terms to borrow an additional €250.0 million of Term Loan B borrowings, extend
the maturity from November 2025 to March 2027, and to amend certain provisions in the Credit Agreement, although
it remained maintenance covenant free. The interest rates also remained the same. The quarterly amortization
payments were replaced by a single payment due on 9 March 2027. The refinancing on 9 March 2020 has been treated
as a substantial modification under IFRS 9.

On 29 January 2021, the aggregate principal amount of Term Loan B outstanding of €1,064.3 million plus accrued
interest was repaid in full using the proceeds from a loan of €1,064.3 million from a related party company, INEOS
Quattro Financing Limited.

Securitisation facility

INOVYN Group Treasury Limited and certain other Group companies are party to a trade receivables securitisation
programme (the “Securitisation Programme”) with Barclays Bank PLC, ING Belgium N.V. and HSBC Bank PLC
who act as lenders, liquidity providers and programme agents. The maximum amount available under the
Securitisation programme is €240.0 million subject to a borrowing limit that is adjusted periodically based on the
amount of eligible trade receivables at that time. The Securitisation Programme matured on 30 June 2021.

For drawn amounts, the revised facility bears interest at a rate equal to the cost to the lenders of issuing Commercial
Paper plus a margin of 1.1%, except that if any lending is funded other than by issuing Commercial Paper then the
applicable interest rate is EURIBOR / LIBOR plus 1.1%. For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

On 28 June 2021, the Group renegotiated its trade receivables securitisation programme that was acquired with the
INOVYN business. The maximum amount available under the securitisation programme remained the same at €240.0
million. The facility now matures on 30 June 2024. The interest rates were also reduced and, for drawn amounts, the
revised facility bears interest at a rate equal to the cost to the lenders of issuing Commercial Paper plus a margin of
0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%), except that if any lending is funded other than by issuing Commercial Paper
then the applicable interest rate is SONIA/SOFR plus 0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%). For undrawn amounts,
the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

The facility is secured on certain of the Group’s trade receivables. The Group is negotiating an extension to the
securitisation facility.

Other facilities -

In 2015, INOVYN Group Treasury Limited entered into on-demand letter of credit facilities with each of ING Bank
N.V. and Barclays Bank PLC (each, an “Issuing Bank”), under which INOVYN Group Treasury Limited may request
(on its own behalf or on behalf of other INOVYN subsidiaries) that the Issuing Banks issue letters of credit, guarantees,
performance bonds and indemnities (or any other instrument in a form agreed by the Issuing Bank) with an aggregate
base currency amount of up to €40.0 million; €30.0 million of which is available under the ING Bank N.V. facility
and €10.0 million of which is available under the Barclays Bank PLC facility. At 31 December 2020, €7.2 million
(2019: €11.6 million) of certain bank guarantees and letters of credit of the Group were provided for under these
facilities. Under the terms of each Letter of Credit Facility, INOVYN Group Treasury Limited will provide cash
collateral of the value of outstanding letters of credit, bonds, guarantees and indemnities when provided. These
facilities are uncommitted and there is no expiry date.

In addition, certain guarantees from banks and other financial institutions have been provided under non cash-backed
arrangements with those institutions. The majority of these guarantees are to support energy purchasing arrangements
and operating licenses from regulatory bodies. As at 31 December 2020, these amounted to €29.0 million (2019: €29.0
million).
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19 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Analysed as: 2020 2019
€m
Current lease labilities ......ovvreeeeeeeiirireeeenccei s 274 23.9
Non-current lease Habilities ......cocvcrircciiiienininiii e 60.8 533
: 88.2 77.2
Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows: 2020 2019
€m
LeSS than ONE YEAT .....covueriiereeriernertirieeeeiireecsisit ettt et et sbe b e 29.6 26.1
Between one and flVe YEars .......co.coveevcernieniciiniininniiieeseeiee e 45.2 40.5
More than fiVe YEars ......c.coeeuivrerecreicniiniiiininiesiir e res s 27.7 25.6
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 102.5 92.2
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows: 2020 - . 2019
€m
Lease capital PAYMENLS ......ccoveueeerreneceiriecrereeierenseesesnene e sensssssssansees 249 23.5
Lease Interest PAYMENtS ......ccceveveerereercriiiniiiiniiiesiisssenseeeseeesssrereenesens 2.6 24
Short-term IEASES ......c.ceveeireeeeieeieeeeteerreee et s e st enae e T 7.7 7.4
Leases of 10w value aSSets ........cceverereiriineriienrcninrciiecsieiiesscseeaene s 0.3 0.4
Total cash outflow for leases 35.5 33.7

The Group has entered into a number of significant lease arrangements relating to off-site storage capacity, rail cars,
land and buildings, and air separation plants used for the generation of industrial gases.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored

within the Group’s treasury function.

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
€m
Current
Trade payables..........c.coeereiciiiiiini s 346.0 326.0°
Amounts owed to related parti€s .........cccoveervervenninieeninnc s 70.0 381.1
ACCTUAIS oottt ette e etneeente s eeebsesssasaeessees srraessaneesneeanetaeneseemeeenns 151.6 132.6
DEfErred INCOME ....o.veeeeeecirveeeeeereescernreerseeestesasiveessrressraeseneess sabessseeses 6.8 7.6
Other PaYabIes.......ccceoeriieiieiirienieeteireneeeer ettt b s eaaebs 99.7 102.9
, 674.1 950.2
Non-current
ACCTUALS .ovveeiiiieeeeeiceieececeee e eetveeesceeaver e s seesnseesssbabeeesssanasessnnnneesasensas 8.1 7.6
DEfErTed INCOME ...cocvviereeeereieicreetieeeeraeesrr e e eseessareeesiaessereesssaessanrenaneenses 100.6 111.6
2.6 4.2
111.3 123.4

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 26.
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21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group operates a number of pension plans in Europe, devised in accordance with local conditions and practices.
The plans are generally of the defined benefit type and are funded by payments to separately administered funds or
insurance companies. The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in the UK,
Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Norway, Spain and Austria.

The most recent full valuations of the significant defined benefit plans were carried out as follows:

Plan Country Valuation date
All Plans United Kingdom 5 April 2019

All Plans Norway 31 December 2020
All Plans Belgium 31 December 2020
All Plans France 31 December 2020
All Plans Germany 31 December 2020
All Plans Italy 31 December 2020
All Plans Spain 31 December 2020
All Plans Austria 31 December 2020

Where the most recent full valuations were carried out prior to the balance sheet date, these have been updated to
31 December 2020 by independent qualified actuaries.

The Group’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in the UK and Other
European countries (which includes Norway, Germany, Spain, Italy, Belgium, Austria and France).

The UK defined benefit pension plans were historically final salary in nature, with a normal retirement age of 60, and
are both closed to new entrants and future accrual. The plans operate under trust law and are managed and administered
by Trustees in accordance with the terms of each plan’s Trust Deed and Rules and relevant legislation. The
contributions paid to the UK plans are set every three years based on a funding agreement between the company and
Trustee after taking actuarial advice.

The Other European defined benefit pension arrangements are primarily final salary in nature, the majority of which
are closed to new entrants, or frozen to future accrual.

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans, which provide employees with other post-
employment benefits in respect of health care. The plans are unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits is
assessed by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method.

Pension plan assumptions

The major actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) at year end were as follows:

UK . Other European
2020 2019 2020 2019
%

Price inflation.........c.cccovrrmreernennnciniseeseeseeeeneanns 2.80 2.90 1.50~1.75 1.50 -2.00
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.60 2.10 -0.50 — 2.00 0.00-2.50
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries............ccocueenen. n/a n/a 1.75 -4.25 0.25-4.50
Rate of increase in pensions in payment ...................... 2.00 -3.60 1.80-3.60 -3.68-1.75 -3.38-2.00
Rate of increase for deferred pensioners ...........coeee. 24-28 2.10-2.90 0.00-1.75 0.00-1.75
Healthcare medical trend rate (initial)...........ccoceeeenernne 5.36 5.65 1.75 2.00
Healthcare medical trend rate (ultimate)....................... 4.8 4.80 1.75 2.00

66



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on standard
actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The assumptions are
equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

UK Other European
2020 2019 2020 2019
{Years)
Longevity at age 65 for current male pensioners........ 20.5-22.2 20.5-21.5 20.3-23.5 202-23.5
Expected long-term rate of return is as follows:
UK Other European
2020 2019 2020 2019
% .
1.60 2.10 -0.50 - 2.00 0.00-2.50
1.60 2.10 -0.50 - 2.00 0.00-2.50
1.60 210 . -0.50-2.00 0.00-2.50
1.60 2.10 -0.50 - 2.00 0.00 —2.50

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial assumption:

2020
UK Other European
€m
Discount rate: 1% dECIEASE ......ccvvivreriieriiierceeenteeiteteseie et eeeenee e e satesaessrbsaseassennns 310.0 429
Rate of inflation: 0.5% increase(V 105.3 11.4
Mortality: 1 year increase in longevity for a member currently aged 65 ..................... 54.3 7.7
2019
UK Other European
€m
Discount rate: 1% dECIEASE .......ccvveveruierverterieneerce st et sbe st e s e saessaessassarenbsenae 309.9 3
Rate of inflation: 0.5% increase(" 105.1 11.3
Mortality: 1 year increase in longevity for a member currently aged 65 ..................... 543 7.3

M) The sensitivity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary increase and future pension increase
assumptions where these assumptions are set to be linked to the inflation assumption.

The weighted average duration of plan liabilities at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

UK . Other European
(Years)
DDUFALION ..ottt ettt sbe s b s e s s e bt r e e e e s b sb b e b b s sr bt e s s sn s s s senbeebaeabes 12.0 -25.2 0.6 -26.2
Pension assets
The disclosures relating to the net pension assets are disclosed below:
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
2020 2019
UK
€m
43.0 -
349.4 189.1
32 -
102.4 36.6
Fair value of plan assets 498.0 225.7
Present value of funded Obligations ...............c.eeeeveeveereemsersessssssssesesesiesesssesessesscnaces (465.0) (199.2)
33.0 26.5

Net pension asset
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21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension assets (continued)

The actual return on plan assets was:

2020 2019
UK
€m
Actual return 0N PIAN SSELS ......c.eurieeurrereeetriesrereseressestsessiessseeseecssessssseesssesessessssessesans 214 24.0

Other investments largely consist of quoted instruments. There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s
own financial instruments, or hold assets or property which are used by the Group.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2020 2019
UK
€m
Current service costM........ooovvreeriennne OO OO UV U PVEUUOOTPURURUROOIN 0.5) 0.5)
Expected return on plan assets® ............covvverreeeieneereieinnsisencenneneeseeneeseneseesssssssscnes - 45 . 5.9
Interest Cost 0n ObIZAON®D ............ovveeviereeeee oot essaess s b eenssrsssssensensenss (3.9) (5.2)
Total 0.1 0.2

() Included within operating profit
@ Included within finance costs

The amounts recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:

2020 2019

UK

€m
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 16.9 18.1
Experience losses arising on scheme Habilities......c.ccocevceevvivnnicniiiiniccnicccees - (0.9)
Changes iN @SSUMPLIONS ............oovvrerirressereereesnssessssssssesesssssssssssessssssssssnsassssessssanses (17.3) (17.2)
Actuarial loss recognised 0.9 =

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:
2020 2019

UK

€m
AL ] JANUATY ..ottt teee e s e b bs s s s bbb sa s s s aaan (199.2) (180.4)
Current service cost.. (0.5) 0.5)
Interest cost.............. (3.9) 5.2)
Reclassification from pension labilities ..........cccoccvievveniivninennnicnnnnceneee (267.7) -
Benefits paid ... 12.5 14.6
Experience loss ............ - 0.9
Change in assumptions.... (17.3) 17.2)
EXchange adjustmMents..........ccoeiereenecennieccccecernereaneeesiesieaisis st esses s s seass 11.1 (9.6)
At 31 December (465.0) (199.2)
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21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension assets (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:

2020 2019
UK
€m
AL ] JANUATY ...ttt ettt st ssest s sr s s e s r s bbb bbb bene 225.7 204.3
Expected return on SChEME @SSELS ........coveveriiiiiuiiiniciiiieesre s enens 4.5 59
Employer CONHDULIONS.......cccouruiieierieiiiiinieesiceieeeee sttt e ene 0.8 1.0
Reclassification from pension liabilities ..., 275.1 -
Benefits PAid ......ccveviiceiiiiiiiii e s (12.5) (14.6)
Actuarial gain................. 16.9 18.1
ExXChange adJuStmMEnts.........c.c.ceveueueueeeecrermecrmreiecreeener et esessssess s s sssse s senens (12.5) 11.0
At 31 December 498.0 225.7
Pension liabilities i
The disclosures relating to the net pension liabilities are disclosed below:
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
€m
158.5 2278 479 385 206.4 266.3
477.9 573.6 . 308 27.6 508.7 601.2
9.0 13.7 6.2 5.1 15.2 18.8
126.3 174.5 27.9 36.3 154.2 210.8
771.7 989.6 112.8 107.5 884.5 1,097.1
Present value of funded obligations......... (799.0) (1,071.0) (187.1) (184.7) (986.1) (1,255.7)
Present value of unfunded obligations..... (0.5) (0.6) (118.4) (114.3) (118.9) (114.9)
Net pension liability 278) (82.0) (192.7) (191.5) (220.5) 73.5)
The actual return on plan assets was:
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
€m
Actual return on plan assets........c............ 153.0 139.5 9.0 8.8 162.0 148.3

The majority of the assets invested in property are unquoted. All other investments are largely in quoted instruments.
Equities comprise of well-diversified holdings over a wide range of global markets.

There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or hold assets or property which
are used by the Group. At 31 December 2020, the Group held €24.3 million (2019: €26.7 million) of bonds issued by
INEOS Group Holdings S.A., which is a related party.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
€m
Current service cost ..........coveenrcnnnnns (2.5) 2.8) 9.9 @&.D (11.9) (10.9)
Expected return on plan assets®.............. 19.7 24.1 1.2 2.0 209 26.1
Interest cost on obligation®..................... (21.2) (27.3) (3.2) G.1 (24.4) (324)
Total (4.0) (6.0) (11.4) (11.2) (1s5.4) (17.2)

M Included within operating profit
@ Included within finance costs.
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21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (continued)

The amounts recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
€m

Actual return less expected return on pension

SChEME @SSELS......ovcoverinerccceciiie e 133.3 1154 7.8 68 141.1 1222

Experience gains/(losses) arising on scheme

HAbINEES -....coeereeieiereie et 0.1 18.7 (2.0) (5.1 (1.9) 13.6

Changes in assUMpPLions.............oceeeerereerrenene (105.5) (120.5) (12.0) (28.2) (117.5) (148.7)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised 27.9 13.6 6.2) (26.5) 21.7 a2.9)

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
. €m

AT JANUATY .o (1,071.6) (883.8) (299.0) (265.7) (1,370.6) (1,149.5)

ACQUISTUONS ..ot - (64.5) - - - (64.5)

Current SErvice COSt........ccimueniiiinmnneniesenene 2.5) 2.8) 9.4) @.1 (11.9) (10.9)

Interest cost (21.2) (27.3) (3.2) G.1) (24.4) (32.4)

Reclassification to pension assets.................... 261.7 - - - 267.7 -

Benefits paid...........ccooovviiiiiiniiinine 74.4 56.1 174 17.3 91.8 734

Experience gain/(10Ss) ....c.cccoeeennivincrninicennnns 0.1 18.7 (2.0) ¢ (1.9) 13.6

Change of assumptions................eeveeeviieereneans (105.5) (120.5) (12.0) (28.2) (117.5) + (148.7)

TEANSTETS-MN ..ot s saesesaeans - - - 3.7 2 3.7

Exchange adjustments ..........c.ooecoenevnricncanae 59.1 (47.5) 2.7 0.4) 61.8 (47.9)

At 31 December (799.5) (1,071.6) (305.5) (299.0) (1,105.0) (1,370.6)

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
UK Other European Total
€m .

At 1 January ..., 989.6 7724 107.5 94.7 1,097.1 867.1

ACQUISIHONS.....oeeeciceiinieiieieneste e sesneseceninne s - 55.1 - - - 55.1

Expected return on scheme assets 19.7 24.1 12 20 20.9 ' 26.1

Employer contributions ............ccccoviiiiiinnnens . 34.1 36.5 15.5 17.7 49.6 54.2

Reclassification to pension assets.................... 275.1) - - - (275.1) . -

Benefits paid......c...cceeverereninencnecreniinccnns (74.9) (56.1) (17.9) (17.3) (91.8) (73.4)

Actuarial gain/(loSs) .......cccoeceuereruerererecnererenenes 1333 115.4 7.8 6.8 141.1 1222
- Transfers-in - - - 34 - 34

Exchange adjustments .........c..cccccvvenencnnnienenns (55.5) 42.2 (1.8) 0.2 (57.3) 424

At 31 December 771.7 989.6 112.8 107.5 884.5 1,097.1

70



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Actuarial gains and losses before tax recognised directly in equity on the statement of comprehensive income since 1
July 2015, the joint venture formation date is:

2020 2019
€m
ALT JAIUALY e eees e eses s e seeeee e seests st ese e esese s 76.4 89.3
Actuarial gains/(loss) recognised in the Year ..........ccocoieomiiiiii e 213 (12.9)
Cumulative amount at 31 December 97.7 76.4

Depending on prevailing éxchange rates, the Group expects to contribute approximately €59.3 million to its defined
pension plans in 2021.

22 PROVISIONS

Severance and

restructuring Environmental Plant closures Other provisions Total
€m

At 1 January 2020 .......cocevreviereennenns 3.0 78.8 252 29 109.9
Charged to the consolidated income
statement (non-exceptional).............. 0.5 - - 0.8 1.3
Charged/(credited) to the
consolidated income statement
(exceptional items).........ceeevvnrerinnn - 104 (1.2) - 9.2
Discount unwinding.........ccccccceennae - 0.7 0.1 - 0.8
Utilised in the year (1.8) (10.8) (11.3) (0.8) 24.7)
Effects of movement in foreign
EXCHANGZE ...cvvvevvcereeeeeserenceneeee e - 0.1 0.9 0.1) 0.9)
At 31 December 2020...................... 1.7 79.2 11.9 2.8 95.6
Non-current 1.8 62.1 8.9 1.3 74.1
CUITENL ...t ceecrecreceresiaees 1.2 16.7 16.3 1.6 35.8
At 31 December 2019...................... 3.0 78.8 25.2 2.9 109.9
NON-CUITENL....cvvirriiereeeiereeceeeeeeane 0.8 65.1 3.0 - 68.9
CUITENL ...t cresine e eeees 0.9 14.1 8.9 2.8 26.7
At 31 December 2020..................... 1.7 79.2 11.9 2.8 95.6

Severance and restructuring

Provisions of €0.5 million for severance payments were recognised in the year ended 31 December 2020, mostly
associated with the closure of the cellroom at Zandvliet, Belgium, and the reorganisation of supply chain and
commercial teams. Cash of €1.8 million was spent in the year. The remaining provision of €1.7 million is expected
to be fully utilised by 2023.

Environmental

Environmental provisions represent the expected cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive
obligation for the works to be carried out and a reasonable estimate of the cost can be made. The majority of the
provisions created in prior years relate to obligation associated with the decommissioning of mercury-based cell rooms
at the Group’s sites in Belgium, France, Sweden, Spain and Italy, plus costs of implementing the Plan de prevention
des risques technologiques (PPRT) at the Feyzin site in France as required under French legislation. To comply with
the obligations of the EU Water Framework directive and to reduce the level of leaching of historical contamination,
a provision for €10.4 million was created during the year ended 31 December 2020 to cover costs associated with the
construction of a sealed cell for certain sedimentation basins and a pilot plant for treatment of contaminated ground
water at Tavaux, France. Cash of €10.8 million was spent in the year ended 31 December 2020 and the remaining
provisions of €79.2 million are expected to be fully utilised by 2047.
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22 PROVISIONS (continued)
Plant closures

In October 2015, the Group announced the closure of its SPVC production facilities at Schkopau in Germany and
provisions were made to cover costs associated with manpower reductions, onerous leases, dismantling, demolition
and decommissioning costs. Cash of €0.4 million was spent against this provision in 2020 and the provision is now
fully utilised.

" In December 2015, the Group announced the closure of the chloromethanes asset at Runcorn in the United Kingdom,
and provisions were made to cover redundancies, decontamination and decommissioning costs and utility
reconfiguration costs at the Runcorn site. An amount of €0.9 million was released from the provision in 2020 and cash
of €3.0 million was spent against this provision during the year. The remaining provision of €0.4 million is expected
to be fully utilised by 2021.

In December 2016, the Group announced the closure of the last remaining mercury electrolysis plant at Runcorn and
a provision was created to cover costs such as decommissioning and decontamination, disposal of elemental mercury, -
and manpower headcount reductions. Cash of €6.2 million was spent against this provision in 2020 and the remaining
provision of €7.6 million is expected to be fully utilised by 2022.

In June 2018 the Group closed its specialised PVC recycling business at Ferrara in Italy. An amount of €0.3 million
was released from the provision in the year and the remaining provision of €0.5 million is expected to be fully utilised
by the end of 2021.

Other plant closure provisions mainly relate to remediation activities at Wilhelmshaven in Germany following the
closure of the mercury cell room in 2013. Cash of €1.7 million was spent during the year and the remaining provisions
of €3.4 million are expected to be fully utilised by 2022.

Other provisions

Other provisions relate to various miscellaneous legal claims and commercial disputes, of which a net €0.8 million
was charged to the income statement, €0.8 million was spent in the year and the remaining €2.8 million is expected to
be fully utilised by 2022.

23 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2020 2019
€m

Current
Derivative commodity contracts designated as fair value through the profit or
T0SS (NOLE 26) ....vevvecveeeeeeeisreisseessesesssessaessssessesss s ssessssasssesssassssssssssssassssssens 11.5 34

24 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS

Share capital
As at 31 As at 31
December 2020 December 2019

€

10,001,001 (2019: 10,001,001) authorised and issued A Ordinary shares of
£0.0000] €ACN......coeeeiieeeeieecictececev ettt ve s e te st e srsesra s et raesnen s 117 117

As the reporting currency of the Group is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate of
exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS (c_ontinued)
Dividends

The following dividends were recognised during the year:

2020 2019
€m
DiIVIAENAS AECIATEA ... reeeeete et eetesesvetee e ses s eassenessntessaanessssssnnaen 372.1 312.0

An interim dividend of €372.1 million was declared during the year (2019: €312.0 million declared). This took the
form of a cash dividend of €100.0 million and a dividend of €272.1 million as net settlement of the outstanding loan
and receivable principal balances (plus accrued interest) with INEOS related party entities. The dividend declared
equates to €37.2 per A Ordinary share (2019: €31.2 per A ordinary share).

25 MERGER RESERVE

~On 1 July 2015, INEOS Group Investments Limited and a subsidiary of Solvay SA combined their European chlor-
vinyls activities in a joint venture headed by INOVYN Limited. INOVYN Limited acquired INOVYN Finance
Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc and Kerling Limited) and certain of its subsidiaries from INEOS Group
Investments Limited, and acquired several legal entities from the Solvay group in exchange for a cash payment of
€150.0 million. The intention from the onset of the formation of INOVYN was that Solvay would exit the joint
venture within three years, with Solvay receiving €335.0 million for the redemption of their B ordinary shares. On 1
July 2015, €375.2 million was debited to a merger reserve, being the difference between the book value of the net
assets acquired and the total consideration paid.

The merger reserve was further increased by €59.6 million in 2019 following the acquisition of INEOS Enterprises
Group Limited and its subsidiary, Keuper Gas Storage Limited. See note 4 for further details.

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
e credit risk
e liquidity risk
e market risk (including currency and interest rate risk)
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. They are responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Group,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where settlement is not due in the short-term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

26(a) Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where settlement is not due in the short-term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(a)  Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents .

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand.
Where it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.

Interest-bearing borrowings

The fair value of the Senior Secured Term Loans which after initial recognition is determined for disclosure purposes
only are based on the market yields derived from quotes obtained at the year end from leading financial institutions
(categorised as Level 1). The fair value of the Securitisation facility is the same as the carrying value excluding debt
issue costs. The fair value of lease liabilities is determined by reference to market rates for similar lease agreements.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group has entered into swap contracts designed to hedge floating electricity prices into a fixed price. The fair
value is based on market or broker quotes.

Defined benefit pension plans

The fair value measurements of pension plan assets, and projected benefit obligations under these defined benefit
plans are described in note 21.

The fair values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities together with their carrying amounts shown
in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2020 2019
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
€m
Financial assets held at amortised cost:
Trade receivables..........ovveenieciieicccciiiniciieineis 3504 350.4 353.1 353.1
Amounts due from related parties and associates......... 69.2 69.2 382.0 382.0
Other receivables (excluding prepayments and tax) ..... 111.6 111.6 91.2 91.2
Other INVESIMENLS ......cocvvrieeeiriereeie s e e 49 49 5.0 5.0
Cash and cash equivalents ............cc.coouvvemervenreresrnnenns 1183 118.3 64.2 64.2
Total financial assets 654.4 654.4 895.5 895.5
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(a)  Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

2020 2019
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
€m
- Financial liabilities held for trading at fair value
through profit or loss:
Derivative commodity CONtracts.......c.coecceveerveviuennne 11.5 11.5 34 34
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost: .
Senior Secured Term Loan B due 2025 ...........c.ccce.n. 1,058.7 1,059.0 797.1 818.4
Securitisation facility ............cco.u.. g ©.1) - 55.0 55.2
Loan from related party 38.0 38.0 36.4 36.4
Other 10aNS......ccveveeirie e 03 0.3 0.1 , 0.1
Trade payables.........cooeueveeeirinnrccenineesireiieeseens 346.0 346.0 326.0 326.0
Amounts due to related parties ........c.cocvcvcririinniinnnn 70.0 70.0 381.1 381.1
Accruals and other payables (excluding deferred
INCOME). . eeeeeeererrreeesreeneeneeerenesreecenessternessessesnsans
262.0 262.0 2473 2473
LeaSe HAbIHHES .....ouovroveereeesieceeeesseesesseeeeeeensesssassnencs 88.2 88.2 77.2 77.2
Total financial liabilities 1,874.6 1,875.0 1,923.6 1,945.1

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels,
determined in accordance with IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, have been defined as follows:"

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

o Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair values of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in
the balance sheet are as follows:

2020
Level
Fair value 1 2 3
€m
Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative commodity CONTACES ......c..eeeereeremsicssisrssessmssssnsmesnsans (11.5) - (11.5) -
(11.5) - (11.5) -
2019
Level
Fair value 1 2 3
€m
Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative COMMOMitY CONLIACES .........c.overrirerrisersseseeessesaesersessesenenss (34) - G4 -
3.4 - 3.4 -

The derivative commaodity contracts have been assigned to Level 2 since there are no market prices available. The
fair value of derivatives is the value that the Group would receive or have to pay if the financial instrument were
transferred to an external party at the reporting date.

There have been no transfers from one level to another during 2019 and 2020.

75



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(b)

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of debt issue costs,
the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest,
dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains from financial assets measured at amortised cost relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of
impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of debt issue costs,
results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest expense and other financing related expenses.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprise valuation gains and losses, and only
includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9.

2020
Financial Fair value Financial
assets at recognised in liabilities at

amortised cost  profit or loss  amortised cost

€m

Gains from financial instruments
INtErest INCOME....ccuririieeiiireeiicniiine ettt sib s e earesrranesense s 224 - -
Foreign eXchange gains............cc.ceuersruerseseeseeressersesereeeesseenseneseens 12.8 - -
Net result 35.2 - -
Carrying value at 31 December 654.4 - -

Losses from financial instruments
© INEErESt COSt..uiiviiiiiiictiic st - - (32.2)
Amortisation of debt iSSUE COSES .....oeeverrirccenenreriiriirceicinnn - - (18.3)
Net fair value losses On derivatives.........cocceeeereenernieesnreccrenennne, - (7.8) -
Foreign exchange 108Ses..........cccouiienniniiiniininee e - - (14.4)
Net result - (7.8) (64.9)
Carrying value at 31 December - (11.5) (1,863.1)

2019
Financial Fair value Financial
assets at recognised in liabilities at
amortised cost  profitorloss  amortised cost
€m

Gains from financial instruments
INtErest iNCOME......co.ercrrererieierreecceen et a s 16.1 - -
Foreign exchange gains 12.7 - -
Net result 28.8 - -

Carrying value at 31 December

895.5 - -

Losses from financial instruments
INEEIESE COSL...nrneiiiriiereriiereniesretetreee oo e et sansre b essosnessssans - - 27.7)
Amortisation of debt iSSUE COSES ......covrirrcerieereirreriiirieecnes - - 3.1
Net fair value losses on derivatives...........ccoeeceeeereniesiinisencccninas - 0.4) -
Foreign exchange l0SSes.......c.ovvvviieieecrenieneiccnisreneeseercnsesnnnennences - - (11.2)
Net result : - 0.9 (42.0)
Carrying value at 31 December 3.4 (1,920.2)
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(c) Credit risk
Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, deposits with financial
institutions and amount owed to Group undertakings.

The Group’s treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimise the likelihood that the Group will
experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure of any
single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing of the Group.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However,
management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry
and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. Management considers
that there is no geographical concentration of credit risk. The Group has established a credit policy under which each
new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms
and conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when available,
and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which represent the maximum
open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.

Investments, cash and cash equivalent
Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship.

Guarantees

Certain bank guarantees of the Group are provided via a cash-backed bank guarantee facilities with Barclays Bank
plc and ING Bank N.V. As at 31 December 2020, these amounted to €7.2 million (2019: €11.6 million).

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets. Further details on the Group’s exposure
to credit risk, and the associated impairments recognised, are given in note 16.

26(d) Liquidity risk
Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited by the fact that it operates with significant cash
resources, and has significant headroom on the Securitisation facility (see note 18).

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly basis. This
information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank in order to calculate the
level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a monthly basis the level of headroom on
existing facilities is reported and forecast forward until the end of the financial year.
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(d)  Liquidity risk

The maturity profile of the Group’s undrawn committed facilities at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

In 1SS than ONE YEAT .....ecueviiieeieriniriiieie ettt s sa ettt s

In more than one year, but not more than two years
In more than two years, but not more than five years

2020 2019
Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilities
€m
240.0 -
- 184.8
240.0 184.8

The undrawn committed facilities are in respect of the unused securitisation facility of €240.0 million (2019: €184.8
million). The maturity date of the securitisation facility is 30 June 2021.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and -

excluding the effect of netting agreements:

2020
Carrying Contractual S years and
amount cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 2 years 2 to S years over

€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Senior Secured Term Loan B........ - 1,058.7 (1,231.3) (27.0) (27.1) (80.9) (1,096.3)
Securitisation facility................... 0.1) 0.6) (0.6) - -
Loan from related party ................ 38.0 474 - 47.4)
Other 10ans ..........c.ccvevemecreennens 6.3 0.3) 0.1 0.2) -
Trade payables.......ccccoevmecrninnnn 346.0 (346.0) (346.0) - -
Amounts due to related parties ..... 70.0 (70.0) (70.0) - -
Accruals and other payables
(excluding deferred income)......... 262.0 (262.0) (251.3) (7.0) 3.2) (0.5)
Lease obligations..“...........‘.......\... 88.2 (102.5) (29.6) (24.9) (20.3) 27.7)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodity contracts................... 11.5 aLs) (11.5) - - -

1,874.6 (2,071.6) (736.0) (59.1) (104.6) (1,171.9)
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(d) " Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

2019 ‘
Carrying Contractual 5 years and
amount cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years over
€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Senior Secured Term Loan B........ 797.1 (922.3) (28.8) (28.6) (84.6) (780.3)
55.0 (57.0) (1.2) (55.8) -
36.4 (45.3) - - - (45.3)
0.1 ©.1) - - .1)
Trade payables. 326.0 (326.0) - (326.0) - -
Amounts due to related parties ..... 381.1 (381.1) (381.1) - -
Accruals and other payables
(excluding deferred income)......... 2473 (247.3) (235.5) (7.6) 3.7 (0.5)
Lease obligations.........cccccocirecencnns 772 (92.2) (26.1) 7.7 22.8) (25.6)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodity contracts.................... 34 (34) 34 - -
1,923.6 (2,074.7) (1,002.1) (109.7) (111.2) (851.7)

26(e) Market risk
Financial risk management

Market risk reflects the possibility that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, crude
oil, key feedstocks and raw materials will adversely affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future
cash flows. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.

(i) Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US Dollar, Sterling, Norwegian Krone and Swedish Krona. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that the vast majority of the Group’s revenues are generated
in Euros which is the same currency as the Group’s Senior Secured Term Loans. Moreover, most of the Group’s key
feedstocks and other raw material costs are denominated in Euros.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets / (liabilities) are not denominated in the functional
currency of the operating unit involved is shown below. Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of these assets
and liabilities are taken to the income statement of the Group.

2020 2019
€m
EUTOS.....cooiieieciici st s s bbb et (15.3) 8.7
Pounds Sterling........cocvveeieiiiiiieiiiieiiecrcre e 10.7 17.7
Norwegian KIONE .....c..oocviiiiiiiiiciineecntrcnnecnrsis it eaee e 4.6 14.3
US DOIIAIS ....eieeieieierteirtteceiieesitee sttt s s ias s steesseeeseseesesasessembeessrnsessbnsesssesnsessatsssnnsssnnnes 40.9 43.8
ONETS vttt eeceeetete ettt e st e et s et e e eete e tsesbsesbeeteeasseeentasabseseesibasasassaesaessasresnsenssonnes 0.4 1.7
41.3 68.8

79



INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020 (forming part of the financial statements)

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(e) Market risk (continued)

(i) Market risk - Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis-

A 10% per cent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 would have
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change
occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative year.

2020 2019 2020 2019
Equity Profit or loss
€m
BUTOS .ottt nrte et e et s s aeeas - - 1.4 0.8
Pounds StETling.....c.covcveeeriieneniiir et ) - : - 0.9) (1.6)
Norwegian Krone.........ccocccoveviniinenenneneeneneeniniiononesnnnneene. - - 3.7 4.0)
US DOIIATS ...oocvvieeeieeeieeiesee e eee e ese s ssseenae e eernennes - - 0.4) (1.3)
(01117 (O U U ORU PO PR PPN - - - (0.1)

A 10% per cent strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020
would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that
all other variables remain constant.

(ii) Market risk — Interest rate risk
Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2020 2019
€m

Fixed rate instruments
Financial HabilitiEs .....cveveueeeieciieiietectieseers et ceae s e e s s s sas s ensabs (126.2) (113.6)

(126.2) (113.6)
Variable rate instruments :
FINANCIAL @SSELS......ccviiereeereeeiieetieieeetteesreeaeertesseeeseeeste s aseessesssessinaesneseessesessasnrasssessses 1183 64.2
Financial liabilities ......ccccveeciiieiiiiieire e e e sane et ete e e ebeneerens (1,058.9) (852.2)

(940.6) (788.0)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased equity and profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk
exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and considers the
effect of financial instruments with variable interest rates and financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020 and 2019.
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

26(e) Market risk (conﬁnued)

(ii) Market risk — Interest rate risk (continued)

Profit or (loss) , 2020 2019
€m

InCrease in iNterest rateS DY 1% .........ovveeveveereerrressiaesassesessassssssessessenssssssssens (%.8) (8.2)

A 1% change in the opposite direction of the above interest rates at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 would
have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

(iii) Market risk — Commodity price risk

This section discusses the Group’s exposure to the commodity contracts which are not covered under the own use
exemption and are recognised as derivative instruments.

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of products. The
raw material exposures result primarily from the price of electricity, crude oil and base chemicals linked to the price
of crude. The sales price exposures are in general linked to the market price of crude oil.

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates during the
normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts exist and are in respect
of the normal purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group’s requirements, the own use exemption from derivative
accounting is applied.

The Group in some circumstances enters into swap contracts to acquire physical volumes of commodities at future
dates which are not covered under the own use exemption and are recognised as derivative instruments. Derivative
commodity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in note 23.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those relating to the default
of counterparties, are minimised.

26(f) Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines its capital employed of €1,165.4 million (2019: €1,109.1 million) as shareholders’ equity of
€181.1 million (2019: equity of €267.3 million) and net debt (total loans and borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents) of €984.3 million (2019: €841.8 million).

The principal sources of debt available to the Group at 31 December 2020 include the Senior Secured Term Loan B
and the Receivables Securitisation Facility and are described in note 18 along with the key operating and financial
covenants that apply to these facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. The ability of the Group to pay dividends and provide
appropriate facilities to the Group is restricted by the terms of principal financing agreements to which members of
the Group are.party.
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27 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

2020 2019
€m
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year .........cccccooveveniieens 56.7 (144.7)
Cash outflow from change in debt finanCing............ccceeueverrerevermmmicensieesneciccins (195.0) (45.5)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flow .........ccovvvivnnniicnres (138.3) (190.2)
Other net NON-Cash traANSACHONS. ............couervevrereererrsresessesessessesssssssssssssessessessessns 4.2) (30.6)
Movement in net debt in the year (142.5) (220.8)
2020
1 January Other non- 31 December
2020 Cash flow  cash changes 2020
' €m
Cash at bank and in hand..........cccoecvenrennene.. 64.2 56.7 (2.6) 118.3
Debt due within one year..........coeeueevinnee (8.2) - 8.2 -
Debt due after more than one year.............. (897.8) (195.0) (9.8) (1,102.6)
A - (906.0) (195.0) (1.6) (1,102.6)
Net debt (841.8) (138.3) 4.2) (984.3)

Other non-cash changes include capitalisation of interest of €1.6 million on the debt due to related parties as a result
of the acquisition of INEOS Enterprises Group Limited.

Following the application of IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, all lease liabilities have been excluded from the
definition of net debt.

2019
1 January Other non- 31 December
2019 Cash flow  cash changes 2019
€m
Cash at bank and in hand..........cc.ccoeeevevennce 207.7 (144.7) 1.2 64.2
Debt due within one year..........cccoceeeurenene. 8.2) - - (8.2)
Debt due after more than one year.............. (814.6) (45.5) (37.7 (897.8)
Finance 1€ases...........ccoocuvvrmvncminrinsinninns (5.9) : - 5.9 -
(828.7) (45.5) (31.8) (906.0)
Net debt (621.0) (190.2) (30.6) (841.8)

28 OTHER COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Outstanding capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment authorised by the directors of Group companies and
for which contracts had been placed as at 31 December 2020 by the Group amounted to approximately €60.5 million
(2019: €76.9 million).

Other commitments

During the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into purchase contracts to acquire raw materials, energy,
other utilities, maintenance and site services, storage and logistics services. These contracts are for obligations to
make cash payments into the future upon receipt of these products or services. These are not recorded on the balance
sheet as the products or services fall due for delivery in the future.
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29 CONTINGENCIES

The Group companies are and may from time to time be involved in proceedings or litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business. Management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will materially affect
the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.

30 RELATED PARTIES

Related parties comprise:
* Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INOVYN Limited group
o Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited, the ultimate parent company of INOVYN Limited
e Key management personnel

e Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held by INEOS Limited (and their subsidiaries)

Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INOVYN Limited group.
Mr JA Ratcliffe, Mr AC Currie and Mr J Reece are shareholders i‘n INEOS Limited.

. Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INOVYN Limited group

Material trading transactions by the Group with the entities controlled by INEOS Limited are as follows:

Sales and cost

Trade balance
owed to/(by)

Related party recoveries Purchases the Group
€m
2020: €28.6m 2020: €0.7m 2020: €3.7m
INEOS Compounds Aycliffe Limited .............. (2019: €30.7m) (2019: €0.7m) (2019: €1.7m)
2020: €3.0m 2020: €18.7m 2020: €(1.1)m
INEOS Commercial Services UK Limited ....... (2019: €3.1m) (2019: €21.0m) (2019: €(1.7)m)
2020: €18.4m 2020: €0.9m
INEOS Compounds Switzerland AG................ (2019: €18.6m) - (2019: €0.6m)
2020: €7.0m 2020: €48.2m 2020: €1.2m
INEOS Europe AG .....ccoivivvereeneeneiiniecnsennne, (2019: €8.1m) (2019: €3.6m) (2019: €6.1m)
2020: €20.4m 2020: €2.8m 2020: €4.3m
INEOS Holdings Limited .............cccoeveniuinne. (2019: €17.7m) (2019: €0.4m) (2019: €1.3m)
2020: €6.5m 2020: €25.6m 2020: €(0.3)m
INEOS Limited.......cccoocvvvinnincninniineneenens (2019: €7.3m) (2019: €nil) (2019: €1.1m)
2020: €351.4m 2020: €(41.2)m
INEOS Sales (UK) Limited..........ccccccecevenenne, - (2019: €382.3m) (2019: €(44.2)m)
2020: €(6.4)m

INEOS AGi...cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiceceienececveceesine - (2019: €23.5m) -

Other entities controlled by INEOS Limited ....

2020: €33.9m
(2019: €50.4m)

2020: €17.4m
(2019: €23.0m)

2020: €(2.8)m
(2019: €(9.7)m)
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Material non-trading transactions with the entities controlled by INEOS Limited are as follows:

Loan and other
non-trading

Net Interest balances owed
Related party repayments/(funding) income/(expense) to/(by) the Group
€m
2020: €19.1m 2020: €18.1m 2020: €(35.4)m
Entities controlled by INEOS Limited ............ ~(2019: €(41.3)m (2019: €10.8m)  (2019: €(20.3)m)

Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited

The partners of INEOS Capital Partners own a controlling interest in the share capital of INEOS Limited and
Screéncondor Limited. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made no sales or purchases with these
companies (2019: €nil). As at 31 December 2020, amounts owed by Screencondor Limited were € 1.2 million (2019:

€1.2 million).
Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INOVYN Limited group

The Group owns a 60% interest in the share capital of INEOS Runcorn (TPS) Holdings Limited, which is classified
as an associated undertaking, and a 50% interest in Runcorn MCP Limited and GIE Cansel-Bresse, which are
classified as joint operations. Material trading transactions with these entities during the period were as follows:

Trade balance

Sales and cost owed to/(by)
Related party recoveries Purchases the Group
€m

2020: €74.3m 2020: €42.6m 2020: €7.2m

Runcorn MCP Limited........cccoovevnirrernnreiine, (2019: €90.2m) (2019: €54.8m) (2019: €2.4m)
INEOS Runcorn (TPS) Holdings Limited and 2020: €9.6m 2020: €13.7m 2020: €5.7m
itS SUDSIAIATIES ...eovevrereeeiererrere e (2019: €8.7m) (2019: €11.0m) (2019: €6.1m)
2020: €1.8m 2020: €(0.6)m

GIE Cansel-Bresse ...........veecveeeeneeeerieeeerenenneennne - (2019: €1.8m) (2019: €(1.3)m)

All transactions occurred in the normal course of business.

Material non-trading transactions with these related parties during the year were as follows:

Loan ) Interest Loan balance owed to the
Related party repayments received Group
€m
INEOS Runcorn (TPS) Holdings Limited and its 2020: €4.2m 2020: €2.4m 2020: €18.4m
SUDSIAIATY ...ttt (2019: €4.5) (2019: €2.7m) (2019: €21.4m)
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel are directors and other members of the executive committee representing the business
segments. The compensation of key management personnel including the directors is as follows:

2020 2019
€m
Short-term employee benefits.........cocveeeenieeeniiiiiiiiiice e 9.3 7.7
Post-employment DENESILS ........c.coeeirreeereerenirmirciiicine e eeee e s 04 04
9.7 8.1

31 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY AND PARENT COMPANY OF LARGER GROUP

On 31 December 2020, INEOS Group Investments Limited sold 94.9% of its ownership interest in the Company to
INEOS Industries Limited. On the same date, through a series of share-for-share exchange transactions the 94.9%
ownership of the Company was transferred to INEOS Industries Holdings Limited, who then transferred it to INEOS
Quattro Holdings Limited, who then transferred it to INEOS Quattro Financing Limited. Following these transactions,
INEOS Quattro Financing Limited and INEOS Group Investments Limited owned a 94.9% and 5.1% ownership
interest in the Company respectively. Both companies are registered in the United Kingdom.

On 14 April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited transferred its 5.1% shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man.

The uitimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEOS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The '
directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe as the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority shareholding in INEOS
Limited.

32 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies,
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The following areas are considered to involve a significant degree of judgement or estimation.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The directors do not consider there to be any critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which are
presented separately below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

Taxation

Management is required to estimate the tax payable in each of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. This
involves estimating the actual current tax charge or credit together with assessing temporary differences resulting from
differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. The calculation of the Group’s total tax charge
necessarily involves a significant degree of estimation in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be finally
determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority, or, as appropriate, through a formal legal
process.

The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax liabilities arising from trading and corporate transactions in the
countries in which it operates. After appropriate consideration, management makes provision for these liabilities based
on the probable level of economic loss that may be incurred and which is reliably measurable.
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32 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

The breadth of the Group’s structure with operations in many geographic locations makes the use of estimates and
assumptions more challenging. The resolution of issues is not always within the control of the Group and can be reliant
upon the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant jurisdictions in which the Group operates, and as a result,
issues can, and often do take many years to resolve.

Details of amounts recognised with regard to taxation are disclosed in notes 10 and 14. Note 10 shows tax adjustments
in respect of prior years of €1.0 million (2019: €29.2 million).

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under IAS 19 Revised “Employee
Benefits”, management is required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit obligation of each of the
defined benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined benefit schemes are determined using
actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making numerous assumptions, including:

o Future rate of increase in salaries;
» Inflation rate projections;

¢ Discount rate for scheme liabilities;

» Expected rates of return on the scheme assets.

Details of post-retirement benefits are set out in note 21.
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive obligation for such
work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon initial recognition of the related asset, the
corresponding debit is treated as part of the cost of the related asset and depreciated over its estimated useful life.

Other provisions are recognised in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds
resulting from past operations or events that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of recognition requires the
application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change.

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive requirements,
technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to changes in laws, regulations,
public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many years in the future, the carrying
amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

In relation to remediation costs, the estimated interest rate used in discounting the cash flows is reviewed at least
annually. The interest rates used to determine the obligation in the balance sheet at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2020 are risk free pre-tax rates, based on country specific government bond yields. The nature and amount
of provisions included within the financial statements are detailed in note 22.

33 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refinancing

Subsequent to the year end and after the Group became part of INEOS Quattro group, the INEOS Quattro group
undertook a refinancing project on 29 January 2021. INEOS Quattro Financing Limited, a related party, used part of
the proceeds from this refinancing to lend €1,064.3 million to INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance
plc), who then used these funds to repay the Group’s Term Loan B borrowings in full, including accrued interest.

United Kingdom withdrawal from the European Union (“Brexit”)

On 23 June 2016, the UK held an in or out referendum on the UK’s membership within the EU, the result of which
favoured the exit of the UK from the European Union (‘‘Brexit’”). On 31 January 2020, Brexit became effective and
the UK entered into a transition period from 31 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 during which the European Union
treated the UK as if it were still a member of the European Union (the ‘‘Transition Period”’). Following the expiry of
the Transition Period, the UK ceased to be treated as a member of European Union at 23:00 on 31 December 2020. A
trade agreement was signed between the EU and the United Kingdom on 24 December 2020. The Group made

_significant plans to limit the impact of Brexit on its activities from liaising with employees, contingent planning for
inventories and implemented new ways of working for export sales. Whilst there has been additional workload to
standard operating processes and some transportation problems, overall the impact to the business has not been
significant and process changes have been implemented.
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33 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
Group reorganisation

On 14 April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited transferred its 5.1% shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The ultimate parent undertaking of
the Company remained INEOS Limited. :

Financing arrangements

On 28 June 2021, the Group renegotiated its trade receivables securitisation programme that was acquired with the
INOVYN business. The maximum amount available under the securitisation programme remained the same at €240.0
million. The facility now matures on 30 June 2024. The interest rates were also reduced and, for drawn amounts, the
revised facility bears interest at a rate equal to the cost to the lenders of issuing Commercial Paper plus a margin of
0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%), except that if any lending is funded other than by issuing Commercial Paper
then the applicable interest rate is SONIA/SOFR plus 0.95% (previously the margin was 1.1%). For undrawn amounts,
the facility bears interest of 0.5%.
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7 INOVYN LIMITED
COMPANY'’S PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Note 2020 . 2019
..€m
Operating reSult........coocviviiiimiriiie et 2 - -
Income from shares in group undertakings ............coeeiviverinrineencniniiinnns 4 370.5 312.0
Interest payable and SIMilar EXPENSES ..............rerremmeecmmrereveeceseniineens 5 (0.7) 0.7
Profit before taxation 369.8 3113
TaX ON PrOfit...ceceeeciciiiniiiiiintiiecie e 6 - (0.3) 04)
Profit for the financial year 369.5 310.9

All activities of the Company relate to continuing operations.

The Company has no recognised other comprehensive income and therefore no separate statement of other
comprehensive income has been presented.
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INOVYN LIMITED

COMPANY’S BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Note 2020 2019
€m

Fixed assets
Investments 7 449.3 4493
Current assets
Debtors 8 2.9 2.8
Total carrent assets 29 28
Total assets 452.2 4521
Non-current Hablilities
Interest- bearing loans and borrowings 9 (21.0) (20.3)
Current liabilities
Amounts owed to group undertakings ‘10 (2.5) 049
Tax linbilities fOF CRITENT tAX......uceuiveememeasinsessrsensemssansrmsssomissssesssnsssosses s N ('3 ]
Net assets . 487 4313
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 11 -
Share premium account 84.5 845 .
Merger reserve 299.2 2992
Profit and oss account 45.0 476
Total sharcholder’s funds. ‘ 428.7 4313

The financial statements on pages 89 to 99 were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 July 2021 and were signed

on its behalf by:

D J Horrocks G Tufi

Director Director

INOVYN Limited Registered number: 08696245



INOVYN LIMITED -
COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

Share Profit and Total
Calledup  premium  Merger loss shareholder’s
share capital account reserve account funds.
€m
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 84.5 299.2 48.7 432.4
Profit and total comprehensive income for the
financial year.......cccoccccovmiininnniiiiiiieiinnns - - - 310.9 310.9
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity:
Dividends.........cuovvervveerrnieererierrennesl Nveeeaerreenaens - - - (312.0) (312.0)
Total contributions by and distributions to
owners - .- - (312.0) (312.0)
Balance at 31 December 2019 .........ccccoecsnenace - 84.5 299.2 47.6 4313
Profit and total comprehensive income for the
financial year........ccccceesievieniinniineininneenen - - .- 369.5 369.5
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in '
equity:
DiIVIAENAS ....ovevericrerieserseeese e - - - (372.1) (372.1)
Total contributions by and distributions to
owners : - - - (372.1) (372.1)
Balance at 31 December 2020 .........ccooereeennse - 84.5 299.2 45.0 428.7
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INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY'’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INOVYN Limited (“the Company”) is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the UK, registered in
England and Wales and has its registered office at Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire,
* UK, WA7 4JE (previously Runcorn Site HQ, South Parade, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire, UK, WA7 4]JE).

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its
group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic
of Ireland (“FRS 102") and the Companies Act 2006. The presentation currency of these financial statements is the
Euro.

The consolidated financial statements INOVYN Limited are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards. In these financial statements, the Company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the
purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following disclosures:

¢ Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
¢ Key Management Personnel compensation.

As the consolidated financial statements of INOVYN Limited include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 102 available in respect of the following disclosures:

e The.disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12 Other Financial Instrument
Issues in respect of financial instruments not falling within the fair value accounting rules of Paragraph 36(4) of
Schedule 1. ' '

e  The disclosures required by FRS 102.13 Related Party Disclosures.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these financial statements and have been prepared on a going concern basis.

L1 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and
financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

1.2 Impact of New standards and interpretations

There are no amendments to accounting standards that are effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 which have
had a material impact on the Company.

1.3 Foreign currency

The functional currency of the Company is the local currency of its principal operating environment and the functional
currency has been identified as the Euro.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the local currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account, except when deferred in reserves as qualifying net investment hedges.

1.4 Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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INOVYN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.4 Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment.
Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.5 Impairment
Financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.

1.6 Expenses
Finance cost

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

1.7 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following timing differences are not provided for:
the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the timing difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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INOVYN LIMITED .
NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

’

2 OPERATING RESULT
The audit fee for the parent company for the year ended 31 December 2020 was €5,450 (2019: €5,646) and was borne

by a fellow group undertaking.
3 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The Company had no employees, other than the directors, during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: none).

No directors received any fees or remuneration in respect of their services as a director of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: €nil).

4 INCOME FROM SHARES IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

During 2020 the Company received total dividends of €370.5 million (2019: €312.0 million) from INOVYN Holdings
Limited, in the form of cash of €100.0 million and a dividend of €270.5 million as net settlement of the outstanding
loan (plus accrued interest).

5 INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

2020 2019
€m

Total interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost ............ 0.7 0.7

Interest payable and similar expenses for the year inciude €0.7 million (2019: €0.7 million) payable to group
undertakings.

6 TAX ON PROFIT
Recognised in the profit and loss account
2020 2019
€m
UK Corporation tax:
CUrrent tax CrEdit.......vvveevrireerrrieicniinci e bbb 0.1) 0.2)
Adjustments in T€SPECt O PriOT YEATS ........vcrrurevcecericereserereieeseserensensersesenssssiins 0.4 0.6
Total current tax charge 0.3 04
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2020 2019
, €m
Total tax CharZe.......cocecueeeriiiririi i 0.3 0.4
Profit excluding taxation ..........coccceeeeerrciniininiininiiiene et e 369.8 3113
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2019: 19.0%).......ccccovvvevrinennns 70.3 59.1
Adjustments in respect Of Prior YEAS .......cuereurieiseineieeniereenentisccisnsisins 04 0.6
TAX EXEMPE INCOME ...o.vvvereeecrcrassesverieesaessaessaessesssssessssssssssssesensesseesssessssssessesses (70.9) (59.3)
Total tax charge included in profit or loss 0.3 04

The Finance Bill 2020 was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020 and included legislation to maintain the main rate
of corporation tax in the UK at 19%. On 11 March 2021, the Finance Bill 2021 was announced in the United Kingdom,
which increased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from April 2023.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
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7 INVESTMENTS
Shares in group
Cost and net book value undertakings
€m
At 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 449.3
The Company has the following investments in subsidiaries:
: Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2020 2019 reference
INOVYN Holdings Limited*? ............ e UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN
FINance plc) .....coccvevvenmiciinineveneecersseesiesenens UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Group Treasury Limited*..................... ‘UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Europe Limited*............occcvvcveveenuenne UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS* () ... Norway Holding company Ordinary - 100% (B)
INOVYN Norge Holdings AS* M _.......c.ccocu... Norway Holding company Ordinary - 100% (B)
Manufacture of
INOVYN Norge AS* D v Norway chemicals and PVC ~ Ordinary 100% 100% (B)
Manufacture of
INOVYN Sverige AB*........ccoovviivenrmnreeeneeneenns Sweden chemicals and PVC  Ordinary 100% 100% ©
INEOS ChlorVinyls Holdings BV .........cccccccevuens Netherlands Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% D),
INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limited ...........c...c... UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Newton Aycliffe Trustees Limited............ UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Services Limited.............coccovcveeeenineninne UK Service company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Extraction and supply .
INOVYN Enterprises Limited* ....................... e UK of brine and water Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limited* ........... UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Newco 2 Limited*.........cc.ocoevenvvneacne UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Manufacture of
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limited*.............cccecouvuee UK chemicals and PVC  Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Chlor Atlantik GmbH.............cccccovernnen. Germany Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
Purchase and resale :
INOVYN Americas InC......ccovevereveereeeeecenenesvennens USA of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (F)
INOVYN Sales International Limited................... UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Chlor Trustees Limited............cccoecernee. UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Vinyls UK Ltd......cccoevenircniiriccceccnnns UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INEOS Vinyls GmbH & CoKG........cccovuerennnns Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
INOVYN Schkopau GmbH ............ccocuveveerernnnnn... Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)
Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2020 2019 reference
INOVYN Sales GmbH .......cocccovenicneincccnnnnnnn. Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
EVC Pension Trustees Limited..............ccccceenee. UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
INOVYN Energy Limited......c.cccovoennvcnincnnnn. UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Kerling Newco 1 Limited® ...........ccccoeevcrennnennns UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Kerling Newco 2 Limited® ...........cocovevermeennanns UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
. Manufacture of
INOVYN Deutschland GmbH* .............ccoceonenenn. Germany chemicals and PVC  Ordinary 100% 100% (E)
Manufacture of
INOVYN Espana S.L. ..o Spain chemicals and PVC  Ordinary 100% 100% (H)
INOVYN Osterreich GmbH. ... Austria Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% Q)
Manufacture of
INOVYN Belgium SA*. .....ccccoenmnnnivnnen Belgium - chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% [0)]
Manufacture of
INOVYN PVC France SAS* @ ......ccovvvrrrninnnn, France chemicals and PVC  Ordinary - 100% X)
Operation of ethylene
INOVYN Olefines France SAS*. .......cccccouemnrenn. France cracker Ordinary 100% 100% K)
INOVYN Portugal Lda ........ccccovvviivininienccrniinnnns Portugal Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% L)
Purchase and resale
INOVYN Trade Services SA* ..o Belgium of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% ()
) Manufacture of
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA*................ Belgium chemicals and PVC  Ordinary 100% 100% [0)]
. . Manufacture of
INOVYN France SAS™.......cccooerveineerncnnsenns France chlorine products Ordinary 100% 100% (K)
INOVYN Italia S.p.A. coovicccecicee e Italy Commercial services  Ordinary 100% 100% M)
Manufacture of
INOVYN Produzione Italia S.p.A*........ccccceneneene Italy chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% N)
INOVYN Quimica Espana S.L.........c.ccceourerenrnne Spain Waste treatment Ordinary 100% 100% (H)
Vin);Ioop Ferrara S.p.A.W.....cooovemrcrneerieenennes Italy PVC Recycling Ordinary 100% 100% ™)
Manufacture of salt
and sulphur
INEOS Enterprises Group Limited @ ................... UK chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Keuper Gas Storage Limited @ .......cccecvvrrrnneene. UK Gas storage Ordinary 100% 100% (A)
Limited
by
TTE Training Limited .a......cccovviniiinvneninirnnnnes UK Training company  Guarantee 100% 100% G)
Limited
Apprenticeship by
TTE Apprenticeship Training Agency Limited UK company Guarantee 100% 100% G)
INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limited.............. Ireland Securitisation vehicle  Ordinary n/a n/a [(0)]

O

@

3
@

In addition to INOVYN Finance Limited (formerly INOVYN Finance plc) a guarantor of the Senior Secured Term Loans.

Shares held directly by INOVYN Limited. All other subsidiaries listed are held indirectly.

On 22 August 2020, INOVYN Norge Holdings AS merged into INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS and on 2 September 2020

INOVYN Intermediate Holdings Norge AS merged into INOVYN Norge AS.

Effective 1 March 2019, the Group acquired INEOS Enterprises Group Limited and its subsidiary, Keuper Gas Storage Limited from

INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited, a related party .

On 1 June 2020, INOVYN PVC France SAS was merged into INOVYN France SAS.

Vinyloop Ferrara S.p.A. is in the process of being liquidated.
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31 DECEMBER 2020

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

The registered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:

Reference  Registered office address
(A) Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, P.O. Box 9, Runcorn, Cheshire, WA7 4JE, United Kingdom
(B) Rafnes Industriomrade, 3966 Stathelle, Bamble, Norway
© 444-83 Stenungsund, Sweden
(D) Luna Arena, Herikerbergweg 238, 1101 CM, Amsterdam, Netherlands
(E) Ludwigstrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany
¥ 2036 Foulk Rd, Suite 204, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA
G) New Horizons House, New Bridge Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4LT
H) Calle Marie Curie 1-3-5, 08760 Martorell, Barcelona, Spain
0)) Schottengasse 1, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austria
) Avenue des Olympiades 20, 1140 Brussels, Belgium
(K) 2 Avenue de la République, 39500 Tavaux, France
L Rua do Centro Cultural n° 5 — R/C, sala 8, 1700-106 Lisboa, Portugal
™) Via Marconi 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), Italy
MmN Via Piave 6, CAP 57016, Rosignano Marittimo, Italy
0) Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, Ireland
8 DEBTORS
2020 2019
€m
Amounts falling due within one year .
Group relief balance owed by group undertakings............cccoeueverirrireiernriinnninnns 2.9 2.8
9 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
2020 2019
€m
Amounts owed to group UNAertakings..........occvereeruririreeemreerimneeeescasisesessesecsseenees 21.0 20.3

The amounts owed to group undertakings is an unsecured interest-bearing loan, which is measured at amortised cost.
There is no fixed schedule of repayment.

Term and debt repayment schedule

Nominal Year
interest of Face Carrying Face Carrying
Currency rate maturity value amount value amount
2020 2020 2019 2019
€m
Amount owed to group undertaking ... € 3.5% _Not fixed 210 21.0 20.3 203
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10 AMOUNTS OWED TO GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

2020 2019
€m

. Amounts owed t0 Zroup UNAEMAKINES ........c.cuevrrrercreeremrmerncmertseesessemsenesesnesescens 2.5 04

The amounts owed to group undertakings is an unsecured non-interest bearing loan, which is measured at amortised
cost. There is no fixed schedule of repayment.

Term and debt repayment schedule

Nominal
interest Face Carrying Face Carrying
Currency rate value amount value amount
2020 2020 2019 2019
€m
Amount owed to group undertaking ..........ccccc..c... € nil 25 25 0.4 04
11 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
" Asat 31 As at 31
December December
2020 2019

10,001,001 (2019: 10,001,001) authorised and issued A Ordinary shares of

£0.00001 €ACH.....oeveevereerevesssresseeereeseseeseeseeesseseesetesssseseasessesmsssesasessessesesssssesssnsesessnes 117 117

As the reporting currency of the Company is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate
of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

Dividends

The following dividends were recognised during the year:

2020 2019
€m

DAVIAENAS AECIATEM oo oo eeeeeeeeeese oo 3721 312.0

An interim dividend of €372.1 million was declared during the year (2019: €312.0 million declared). This took the
form of a cash dividend of €100.0 million and a dividend of €272.1 million as net settlement of the outstanding loan
and receivable principal balances (plus accrued interest) with INEOS related party entities. The dividend declared
equates to €37.2 per A Ordinary share (2019: €31.2 per A ordinary share).
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12 - CONTROLLING PARTIES

On 31 December 2020, INEOS Group Investments Limited sold 94.9% of its ownership interest in the Company to
INEOS Industries Limited. * On the same date, through a series of share-for-share exchange transactions the 94.9%
ownership of the Company was transferred to INEOS Industries Holdings Limited, who then transferred it to INEOS
Quattro Holdings Limited, who then transferred it to INEOS Quattro Financing Limited. Following these transactions,
INEOS Quattro Financing Limited and INEOS Group Investments Limited owned a 94.9% and 5.1% ownership
interest in the Company respectively. Both companies are registered in the United Kingdom.

On 14 April 2021, INEOS Group Investments Limited transferred its 5.1% shareholding in the Company to INEOS
Intermediate ChlorVinyls Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man.

The ultimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEOS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The
directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe as the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority shareholding in INEOS
Limited.

The smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INOVYN Limited. The
largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited.
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